Women's poverty and social exclusion in the European Union at a time of recession

An Invisible Crisis?

Oxfam International/European Women's Lobby, March 2010 A GenderWorks paper





Women's poverty and social exclusion in the European Union at a time of recession

An Invisible Crisis?

Background to this report

Oxfam's work on UK poverty

Oxfam's programme in the UK aims to: develop projects with people living in poverty to improve their lives and show how things can change; raise public and politicians' awareness of poverty and its causes; and lobby to bring about change. The programme works in the areas of gender, livelihoods, labour rights, social cohesion, and changing public attitudes to poverty.

Oxfam believes that policies to tackle poverty and social inclusion will be more effective if excluded women's needs are mainstreamed into policy and practice. In line with this approach, Oxfam has been involved with partners in Austria and Italy, in the transnational 'GenderWorks' project during 2007-09, funded by the European Commission's 'PROGRESS' Programme. In the UK, GenderWorks has trained groups of women at grassroots level to hold decision-makers to account and has encouraged decision-makers to use gender analysis to reveal the position of women.

European Women's Lobby

The European Women's Lobby (EWL) is the largest umbrella organisation of women's associations in the European Union (EU). The Secretariat is based in Brussels, but EWL has member organisations in all 27 member states of the EU and 21 European-wide organisations in full membership.

EWL aims to promote women's rights and equality between women and men in the EU. The Lobby is active in relation to a range of issues at EU level, including gender equality policies and gender mainstreaming, economic and social justice for women, women in decision making, violence against women, and gender and immigration/asylum.

In relation to poverty and social exclusion, the focus of EWL's recent work has been on monitoring the social dimension of the Lisbon Strategy for Growth and Jobs, ensuring that women's rights and gender equality issues are central to debates and policies on demography, work on care issues, and the promotion of gender mainstreaming in EU Strategy against Poverty and Social Exclusion.

Acknowledgments

Oxfam and EWL wish to thank Olga Pietruchova, Sandy Ruxton and Sue Smith for all their work and commitment to this project.

We are grateful to the member organisations of EWL who responded at very short notice to a detailed questionnaire, whilst juggling the huge demands of sustaining underfunded women's organisations.

GenderWorks is a two-year project (2007-09), funded by the European Commission under PROGRESS, to investigate women's experiences of poverty and social exclusion in Europe, and policy processes to improve their lives. Oxfam is the lead agency, with partner organisations in Italy and Austria.

Contents

Executive summary	4
1: Introduction	8
The existing picture of poverty	8
Context of the crisis	8
Background to the report	8
Limitations and gaps in data	9
2: The impact of the recession	11
Poverty and standard of living	12
Changing employment patterns	13
Discrimination against women in the workplace	16
Unpaid work and care economy	18
Women of migrant and ethnic origin	19
Violence against women	20
Trafficking, prostitution and poverty	21
Social benefits	22
Access to essential services (health, education, childcare)	23
Support for women's NGOs	26
3. Policy responses	27
4. Conclusions	30
Appendices	
List of organisations that responded to the qualitative research	33
Survey questionnaire	33
References	35

Executive Summary

In October 2009, Oxfam and the European Women's Lobby (EWL) commissioned research to explore and analyse the hidden impact of the current economic recession on women's poverty in EU countries. The research was conducted with EWL member organisations, and supplemented with other research and information available at the end of 2009.

Oxfam and EWL conclude that the research gives a snapshot of the current position of women in poverty, reinforcing what is already known about the persistent social exclusion experienced by many women. It also provides some evidence that the impact of recession is making the inequality faced by women even worse. It is difficult to separate out evidence of women's longterm poverty from the effect of the current recession - and further research is needed in this area. But the evidence here clearly indicates that the recession is already having a significant negative effect on the lives of women, not only in relation to the labour market, but also, crucially, outside it. However, the impact of the recession - direct and indirect - on women remains largely invisible, and further in-depth analysis is urgently required.

This report documents evidence of: precarious working conditions; increasing discrimination in the labour market with a subsequent shift to informal work; rising levels of poverty; reduced access to services; and rising levels of domestic violence, accompanied by cuts in vital support services.

Key findings of research:

- Policy responses to poverty in general, and
 to economic recession in particular, need to
 acknowledge that poverty is gendered. Poverty has
 a differential impact on women and men, based on
 their different roles and responsibilities, and on the
 responses of governments. Both men and women
 lose jobs and earnings, but who loses what depends
 on the structure of the economy, and the extent to
 which policies are gender-blind or gender-sensitive.
- Existing macro-economic data is not sufficiently sensitive to reveal both existing poverty and the effects of recession, on women's lives. For example, the data available on the first 'wave' of the recession tends to show a significant loss of jobs in the manufacturing and construction sectors (where more men work). But the impact on women's poverty is less visible, because women are less likely than men to register as unemployed. Women are also more likely to work in part-time and poorly-paid sectors of the economy, which are less well measured.
- The impact of the recession is significant and damaging for both men and women living in poverty.
 This report tracks the impact for women as a whole,

- and particularly for members of vulnerable groups, who face multiple disadvantages. The latter are likely to include the young and the elderly, migrants and ethnic minorities, the low-skilled, those with short-term contracts, single mothers, women in rural areas, those aged over 45, and women with disabilities.
- Priorities for government action are often based on a norm, which prioritises subsidies to, for example, car plants and the construction industry which tend to employ men, over subsidies to sectors such as textiles or retail which employ more women.
- Reductions in public expenditure will always have a major and disproportionate impact on women's livelihoods, as women are in the majority in the public sector workforce. For example, across the EU, whereas 80 per cent of construction workers are male, 78 per cent of health and social services workers, and over 60 per cent of teachers in primary and secondary education, are female.
- The impact of the recession on women is likely
 to become more acute over time as the effects
 of labour-market shifts are increasingly felt within
 households, and cuts in public expenditure affect
 public services and the many women who work in
 them and use them.

Women and poverty in Europe

Existing poverty

All over the world, women remain poor in relation to men. This is true in every member state in Europe, although differentials vary from country to country. Just under 17 per cent of women in the EU's 27 countries are classed as living in poverty, and across a range of indicators in the labour market and in social protection, the structural causes of poverty have a disproportionate impact on women. The continued existence of women's poverty has long been a concern of the EU, and a range of measures supporting gender equality and tackling poverty demonstrate the continuing significance of women's social inclusion as an issue. The persistence of poverty in such a rich region of the world is shocking, even before the impact of recession has been considered. This report provides evidence of that continuing and underlying poverty experienced by women in the EU, and adds some evidence of the additional impact of the recession.

Debate about tackling recession among policy-makers currently focuses on attempts to regulate the financial sector, and on whether governments should withdraw financial stimulus packages (and if so, when). But it is essential not to lose sight of the huge and continuing social impact of the recession, and of the different consequences for women and men – especially those facing poverty and social exclusion.

Limitations of the data

Existing limitations and gaps in the data on women and poverty make it hard to assess the impact of the recession on women. For example:

- The data available lags behind the reality, reflecting delays in the collection and publication of information. This is especially important given the rapidly shifting nature of the issues involved.
- Women are more likely to change jobs frequently, and to be in temporary and/or informal work. Measures of unemployment and redundancy therefore often fail to capture adequately women's specific experiences.
- There has been far less gender-disaggregated study
 of increases in economic inactivity, or in informal or
 vulnerable work, or on the quality of life for women
 beyond the labour market (eg. access to quality
 services and participation in community activities).
- Existing statistics often treat women and men as homogenous groups, and fail to address adequately the differences within each category (according to class, race, age, disability, faith, and sexual orientation).

Impact of poverty on women at a time of recession

At the beginning of 2010, most EU countries have officially moved out of recession. However, recovery from the effects of the banking crisis in autumn 2008 remains very fragile. The massive sums spent by EU governments to bail out the banks and provide support to failing industries, although necessary to stave off widespread economic collapse, have resulted in large public-spending deficits. Action to reduce these deficits is likely to fall – or in some cases, is already falling - unfairly, on people in poverty, especially through cuts to health, education, and social protection budgets. In Ireland, for instance, a series of budgets have cut child benefit by ten per cent, public-sector pay by up to 15 per cent, and raised prescription charges by 50 per cent. In Greece, a raft of measures has been announced which will cut the public sector and increase taxes significantly.

The research for this paper was carried out in ten member states. It is important to emphasise that not all countries in Europe have the same starting point in their economic and social development, for example on gender equality or the nature and extent of social protection. Drawing on the evidence from EWL members, this research highlights the following themes:

 Poverty and standard of living: Greater difficulty in obtaining work (Austria); rising housing, energy, and living costs (Austria and Romania); higher levels of debt and difficulty with repayments, less and poorerquality food (Romania); increasing levels of debt among Roma women (Slovakia); and increasing fears about unemployment and incomes (UK).

- Changing employment patterns: Increased precariousness of work and reductions in social protection – particularly for poorer groups of the population. The pressure of reduced income in households means that recession drives people, particularly women (who are less able to find other work), to accept jobs below their education and qualification levels.
- Discrimination against women in the workplace:
 Some employers use the crisis as an alibi to exploit women, as women are more often willing to work in precarious conditions, for less salary, and without social security. Some employers may be tempted to restrict policies and initiatives that assist women, or even to adopt illegal practices (eg. dismissing pregnant workers) in order to save money.
- Maternity protection: Mothers are very vulnerable to changes in the labour market. Many of them depend on social benefits provided by the state during their maternity leave, or on child benefits, which may be subject to cuts in a time of recession. In the UK, there has been pressure from business not to implement previously agreed improvements to maternity leave on the basis that this cannot be afforded at the current time.
- Unpaid work and care economy: Reductions
 in public expenditure are likely to result in the
 transfer of services such as care back onto women,
 preventing them from fully participating in all
 aspects of life. Similarly, the impact of expenditure
 cuts to support services in socio-economically
 disadvantaged communities will result in a greater
 reliance on women, both within families and in the
 community.
- Migrant and ethnic minority women: The recession is causing a heightened sense of job insecurity for millions of migrant and ethnic minority women, and making migrants more vulnerable to abuse. Migrant women are increasingly providing the infrastructure that enables higher numbers of native-born women to enter paid employment. However, the unregulated, insecure, and privatised nature of many migrant women's work as cleaners, housekeepers, and hotel and tourism staff leaves migrant women open to abuse and exploitation.
- Violence against women: Economic recession
 puts pressure on families and creates conditions
 associated with increased domestic/intimate relationship violence. Evidence from the current
 study reveals increasing numbers of victims of
 domestic violence (Bulgaria, Estonia, Ireland, the
 Netherlands, Romania, Scotland, and Slovakia);
 increases in trafficking in various countries (Germany,
 Hungary, and the UK); and a rise in prostitution and
 attacks on prostitutes (Germany and the UK).

- Social benefits: In response to the crisis, most EU member states have affirmed their commitment to support the most vulnerable people through their benefit systems. There is evidence, for example, of a temporary relaxing of eligibility criteria for unemployment benefit in some countries (eg. France, Italy). But in other states (eg. the UK, Sweden, the Netherlands, and Ireland) 'activation policies' and welfare reforms have tightened eligibility criteria in order to compel claimants to take up employment even though jobs are very hard to come by.
- Access to essential services (health, education, childcare): Particular concern surrounds women's access to sexual and reproductive health services during the recession. Sexual and reproductive health services are crucial in giving women control over their bodies, and therefore in efforts to achieve gender equality.

The impact of the recession on education is already visible, including: closure of schools (Bulgaria), rising pupil-teacher ratios (Estonia), and cuts to support services for children with special needs and those who need help with the English language (Ireland).

The number of childcare centres has been reduced (eg. Bulgaria), opening hours have been cut (eg. Estonia), and the cost of places has increased (eg. Ireland). Other evidence suggests a reduction in support for books and materials (Estonia); and in Hungary, subsidies on meals in kindergartens and schools have been cut by two-thirds.

• Support for women's NGOs: Women's NGOs have contributed to significant changes in legislation, policy, and public attitudes across Europe, and their campaigning role on behalf of women remains essential at a time of recession. However, the evidence from this research highlights the precarious circumstances of women's NGOs in Bulgaria, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Romania, Slovakia, and the UK. Budgetary cutbacks as a result of the recession are clearly an important factor.

Policy responses

National government actions and recovery plans

Over the past year, most member states have launched stimulus packages and recovery plans to cope with the financial, economic, and social problems created by the recession. The analysis in the report suggests that the actions taken by member states may have failed to address gender issues adequately, adding to existing differences in the poverty of women and men. For example, support for industrial sectors and companies appear to have prioritised saving the jobs of car and construction workers, most of whom are men. Given that women are over-represented in

temporary and part-time work, it is likely that they will be significantly affected by changes to working time. And whilst some positive, short-term measures to support household purchasing power (eg. tax reductions, adjustment in social security contributions, and income-support measures that target low-income households) have been introduced, these are insubstantial compared to the amounts spent on banks and businesses. Moreover, without more detail on the precise measures, it is not possible to discern the gender impact of these policies with any certainty.

All policy responses and recovery plans should recognise the importance of building the resilience of women experiencing poverty. Resilience means the ability to cope with day-to-day shocks, such as using up savings to pay for everyday foodstuffs, or longer-term shocks such as the loss of previously available childcare due to public-spending cuts, and the consequent need to run down social capital in finding substitutes. Policy and recovery plans need to focus on preventing the running down of assets, and on building resilience to coping with shocks.

EU actions and recovery plans

Alongside efforts to restore and maintain a stable financial system, the EU's efforts, with those of member states, have focused primarily on infrastructure and employment initiatives. As yet, however, it has been less clear what the role of the EU's Social Protection and Social Inclusion process can and should be, and what initiatives are being developed. Expert studies are underway in all member states of the social impact of the crisis; however, there are currently no plans to make this information publicly available. As a result, public debate about, and oversight of, the impact of the crisis on the most vulnerable people is to some extent hampered. One consequence of this is that the impact on women remains relatively hidden.

Recommendations

Main recommendations:

- Governments and public bodies should undertake gender impact assessments of the recession, and track subsequent changes over time – especially because women are likely to be disproportionately affected by any future cuts in public spending and services (both as workers and users).
- Governments and public bodies should use the gender impact assessments to help them focus on building the resilience of poor women to further shocks.
- Gender-specific indicators in the field of poverty eradication and the promotion of social inclusion should be further identified, adopted, and monitored

- by the European Commission and the member states, in line with the Portuguese EU Presidency Conclusions on 'Women and Poverty' (2007).
- Monitoring of the gendered impact of the crisis on poor communities should be increased.
 For example, little or no research has been conducted as yet on the impact of the recession at community/household level (eg. on informal caring patterns; on family life and domestic violence; on financial assets such as savings or pensions; on housing arrears or repossessions; or on the costs and availability of childcare).
- The current indicators to determine incomerelated poverty should be revised to better reflect gender differences. Poverty figures are based on accumulated household income, and assume that income is distributed evenly within households, with the consequence that income-related poverty among women is likely to be underestimated.
- Gender-disaggregated data should be developed, and impact assessments undertaken, to explore the changing nature of employment conditions and the effect of this on women's vulnerability to poverty and social exclusion. The following should be monitored: changes of contracts from long to short/fixed term; changes of flexible working hours to part-time work, subcontracts, second jobs, and any other forms that undermine standard labour protection laws; changes affected on return from statutory leave, especially maternity leave, according to different sectors of the economy (including in small and medium enterprises [SMEs]).
- Gender impact assessment should be undertaken on the impact of changing working contracts and conditions on access to social protection (eg. unemployment benefits, maternity pay, sickness benefits, disability benefits, pensions).
- Gender budgeting should be adopted as a standard approach to assess spending on men and women within economic recovery plans and other public budget processes. Alternative accounting measures should also be developed to ensure that women's unpaid activities in the reproductive economy are recognised in systems of national accounts.
- Women's participation should be ensured in decision-making processes affecting the design, implementation, and monitoring of stimulus packages and other measures to aid recovery.
 Women's groups need to be supported to develop greater participation in economic discussions at both national and international levels.

Specific recommendations:

These summarise the recommendations made at the end of each section.

- Discrimination against women: The relevant national authorities (statistics agencies, equality bodies, and government departments) should compile data on the numbers of women who have filed complaints on the basis of sex discrimination in the workplace since the recession in 2008, and undertake analysis of the causes on an ongoing basis.
- Migrant and ethnic minority women: Immigration and integration policies should seek to break down structural obstacles to migrant women's full labourmarket participation, so that they are not restricted to part-time and insecure work with few, if any, employment rights.
- Violence against women: Ongoing and systematic monitoring should be established to measure progress in relation to violence against women. In particular, issues of violence against particularly vulnerable groups of women should be addressed.
- Social benefits: Gender-sensitive universal social protection standards (including access to good quality education and health care, and income security) should be established in all member states to address the needs of women, men, and children facing poverty and social exclusion.
- Access to services: The gender impact of expenditure cuts on access to high standards of health care and education should be assessed.
 Member state commitments to the Barcelona targets on childcare, fixed until 2010, should be renewed.
 New childcare targets should be developed, which recognise not only numbers and costs, but also the quality of care.

1. Introduction

Poverty in Europe

All over the world, women remain poor in relation to men. This is true in every member state in Europe, although differentials vary from country to country. Just under 17 per cent of women in the EU's 27 countries are classed as living in poverty, and across a range of indicators in the labour market and in social protection, women are still suffering from the effects of structural causes of poverty in the labour market and in social protection systems. The continued existence of women's poverty has long been a concern of the EU, and a range of measures supporting gender equality and tackling poverty demonstrate the continuing significance of women's social inclusion as an issue for the EU. The persistence of poverty in such a rich region of the world is shocking, even before the impact of recession has been considered.

This report looks at the continuing and underlying poverty experienced by women in Europe, and provides a snapshot of evidence from women's organisations of the likely impact that the recession is having on women. Existing macro-economic data is insufficiently sensitive to reveal the effects of the recession on women's lives. The evidence in this paper re-states and adds to evidence of how women's pre-existing poverty seems to be exacerbated by recession. It leads us to believe that further in-depth analysis is urgently required to establish how the recession has particularly affected women. Furthermore, it will also take some time for the full consequences of the recession to be seen at community/household level, where women play such a central role. The research questionnaire attempted to explore the impact of the recession on informal caring patterns, family life, domestic violence, financial assets such as savings or pensions, housing arrears or repossessions, the costs and availability of childcare, and on the care of dependent family members. In exploring many of these issues in more detail than has happened until now, this research is an essential part of building a more coherent understanding upon which gender-sensitive policy responses can be developed.

Poverty and recession

At the beginning of 2010, most EU countries have officially moved out of recession. However, recovery from the effects of the banking crisis in autumn 2008 remains very fragile. Much debate among policy-makers currently focuses on attempts to regulate the financial sector and on whether governments should withdraw financial stimulus packages (and if so, when). But it is essential not to lose sight of the continuing economic and social impact of the recession – how it will exacerbate existing poverty, and the different consequences it will have for women and men.

During 2009,¹ unemployment rose in every EU member state, and it is likely that it will continue to rise well into 2010.² Wages have fallen and working conditions have worsened, particularly for those in precarious employment. Housing repossessions have grown and more households are in debt.³ Returns on both public and private pensions are threatened.⁴

Many states are also experiencing significant budgetary deficits. These doubled during 2009 in the EU (from an average 2.3 per cent of GDP in 2008 to six per cent) as a result of both the slowdown itself and (necessary) action to stimulate economic activity. Although the timing and nature of policy responses vary considerably between countries, deep cuts in public expenditure have either been announced already, or are expected, in many countries.

Reductions in public expenditure will inevitably have a major, and disproportionate, impact on women's livelihoods, as women are in the majority in the public sector workforce. For example, across the EU, whereas 80 per cent of construction workers are male, 78 per cent of health and social services workers, and over 60 per cent of teachers in primary and secondary education, are female.⁵

Although there is a common perception that women have been less affected than men by the current recession, the reality is more complex. Women are now much more integrated into the labour force than in previous recessions, and the reliance of both femaleheaded and dual-earner households on women's incomes has grown substantially. ⁶⁷ Women tend, however, to be concentrated in part-time, temporary, and flexible work, and are often lower paid. They are also more likely to be ineligible for unemployment benefits, and to have more interrupted employment histories than men. As a result, their savings and their pensions are also generally lower than men's.

Background to the report

This research was commissioned in October 2009 and completed in January 2010. The report aims to provide a picture of women's poverty in the EU, and to show how the hidden effects of the recession on women appear to be increasing the poverty and social exclusion experienced by women. It draws on survey evidence and published data and research, revealing a picture of structural disadvantage for women as a whole, but also of the added vulnerability of certain groups of disadvantaged women. These are likely to include the young and the elderly, migrants and ethnic minorities, the low skilled, those with short-term contracts, single mothers, women in rural areas, those aged 45+, and women who are disabled.

The report makes recommendations for reducing women's poverty in general, and in relation to the

recession in particular. In many cases, the policy solutions for tackling women's poverty and the impact of the recession are the same, but in some cases they are different and additional. The recommendations are put forward jointly by EWL and Oxfam, but are supplemented by more particular recommendations from each organisation. The recommendations cover how the data gaps identified could be bridged; what further research is required to understand what is happening to women as a result of the recession; and what policy changes would help to protect women from its effects. As a short study it does not claim to offer a comprehensive, in-depth analysis of the complex issues involved, as the organisations involved lacked the capacity and resources to do this. Rather, it provides a snapshot, seen from the perspective of the last quarter of 2009. It builds upon earlier analysis and position papers from both organisations on the effects of poverty on women, and on the economic crisis.9

For more information on the methodology, see Appendix A. For the survey questionnaire sent to EWL member organisations, see Appendix B.

Limitations and gaps in data on women's poverty

The situation of poor and excluded women has been a concern of the European Commission and member states for many years The continuing existence across EU countries of a gender pay gap, occupational segregation (with women over-represented in the lower pay categories), the concentration of women in part-time and temporary work, and the lack of affordable childcare, are all long-term problems. Many women remain in a position of relative economic insecurity and dependence, suffering disproportionately from poverty relative to men.

However, there are long-term and deep-seated limitations and gaps in the data available which make it hard to assess the impact of the recession on women. The diverse histories, structures and policies of different EU member states may mean that definitions and recording methods vary, and that information is therefore often not available on a directly comparable basis. In order to avoid some of the difficulties arising from differences between member states' approaches, we have sought, where possible, to draw upon standardised EU data collection. Here we detail some of the limitations and gaps.

Measuring the impact on women over time

One important limitation of the statistical base is the lag of available data behind the reality, reflecting delays in the collection and publication of information. This is especially important given the rapidly shifting nature of the issues involved. For most EU countries, the latest data that are published relate to the first six months of 2009. Furthermore, there is not only a time

lag in the statistics becoming available, but also a time lag between a downturn in economic activity and this being visible in unemployment figures.¹⁰

Coverage of what is happening in particular sectors is also patchy. The available data on the first 'wave' of the recession tends to show a significant loss of jobs in the manufacturing and construction sectors (where more men work). However, the impact on women's poverty is less visible because women are less likely than men to register as unemployed. Women are also more likely to work in part-time and poorly-paid sectors of the economy, which are measured less well. And as job losses, home repossessions, and income insecurity feed through into household spending decisions, the longer-term gender impact will probably become apparent – if intra-household resources receive more attention. Moreover, future cuts in public spending will be likely to impact heavily on the health, education, and welfare sectors (where more women work). It is likely that the full impact of the recession is yet to be felt by many women on low incomes.

Limitations of labour-market data in revealing poverty

'Measures of unemployment may not necessarily capture the full impact of the changing economic conditions for women, especially as women are more likely than men to leave the labour market altogether. In addition, the difference in the types of job that women and men perform will be reflected in the impact of the recession on their employment and unemployment; for example women's greater concentration in part-time work, lower-paid jobs, jobs with shorter tenure and smaller firms will all have an impact on not only the relative effects of the downturn but also the extent to which policy responses benefit or disadvantage different groups.'

European Commission, Employment in Europe 2009

There are significant limitations in traditional labourmarket data, which have an impact on what is visible in women and men's different patterns of employment. For example, existing analyses have concentrated on formal employment, looking at unemployment figures, with some breakdown by gender. The categories of today's labour force statistics tend to obscure part-time employment, whilst women form the majority of parttime employees.

People with employed partners are less likely to register as unemployed, and such people are more likely to be women. Women are also more likely to change jobs frequently, and to be in temporary and/ or informal work. Measures of unemployment and redundancy therefore often fail to capture adequately their specific experiences.

For instance, job losses recorded by the European Restructuring Monitor (ERM) are 'intended' redundancies involving at least 100 jobs or affecting at least ten per cent of the workforce in sites that employ more than 250 people. This bias probably leads to a higher reporting rate in the ERM for manufacturing relative to services, and is therefore likely to underestimate the impact on women (who tend to work in smaller enterprises and units).¹¹

Overall, there has been far less gender-disaggregated study of increases in economic inactivity, or in informal or vulnerable work – or on the quality of life of those beyond the labour market. Having said this, there is some evidence of recent improvements. Eurostat, in collaboration with the member states, has, for example, improved the methodology used to calculate the gender pay gap in the EU. Instead of using a mix of various national sources, it now uses an EU-harmonised source (Structure of Earnings Survey).

Invisibility of indirect impact on women

Whereas some available statistics highlight the direct impact of job losses in manufacturing and construction (where the majority of employees are men), this of course will have a significant, but largely invisible, indirect impact on their female partners. The latter may as a result take on extra paid work, whilst continuing to provide the majority of care in the home.

Access to quality services and participation in community activities and decision-making processes may also be affected. In extreme cases, women's health and wellbeing may be seriously affected by a male partner's redundancy, and vice versa. These hidden indirect impacts are unlikely to be captured by existing data collection methods and indicators.

There is a risk that some of the compelling evidence we set out in this report in relation to these issues will be dismissed as being 'anecdotal'. This provides a strong justification for a more rigorous approach, whereby robust statistics are collected in future. In some cases (eg. violence against women, the extent of sex work, etc.) it is acknowledged that it is difficult to gather accurate statistics because of the nature of the issues involved. In these cases, we argue that attention to gathering qualitative evidence of the gendered impact (eg. from grassroots NGOs, from women affected, etc.) is essential.

'As we approach the 15th anniversary of the Beijing conference, it is critical that governments, parliamentarians, and women's organisations work together to document the impact of the crisis on the level and scope of gender-based violence.'

Inés Alberdi, Executive Director, UNIFEM, The World Economic and Financial Crisis: What Will It Mean for Gender Equality? Fifth Annual Meeting of Women Speakers of Parliament, Vienna, Austria, 13 July 2009

Difficulties in measuring women's poverty

Income figures, which are used to assess poverty levels, routinely attempt to measure the living standards of an individual according to household income. This assumes that both partners in a couple benefit equally from that income, whereas in practice men tend to control more household resources. Women's poverty may therefore be hidden if statistics are based on household income.¹³ Reflecting this reality, the 2008 Workplan of the 'Indicators sub-group of the Social Protection Committee' (ISG) - part of the EU Social Protection process – recognised that 'the measure of poverty, based on the pooling of household income among members of a household, doesn't lend itself to be broken down by genders, since it cannot reflect the actual sharing of resources between men and women inside the household.' It suggests that the ISG should consider, with the help of Eurostat, how to better reflect gender differences in social inclusion.¹⁴ However, this commitment has appeared in the last three work programmes in precisely the same formulation, suggesting that progress still needs to be made in this area.

Lack of attention to diversity among women

Existing statistics often treat women and men as homogenous groups, and fail to address adequately the differences within each category (according to class, race, age, disability, faith, and sexual orientation). In practice, certain groups of women – single mothers, disabled women, younger/older women, migrant women, undocumented women, women from minority communities, women in rural areas, and women experiencing violence – are most likely to be poor and to suffer disproportionately as a result of the recession. But the overall figures for women will inevitably obscure this reality. Although some analyses has been done at EU and member state levels of the impact of the recession on various groups, these are often insufficiently sensitive to reveal multiple disadvantage.

'Gender equality is more likely to be promoted when the focus of purchasing power is on the individual rather than the household; certainly information on gendered individuals is necessary if the gender implications are to be discovered. Further, income support that is provided to the mother in a household is more likely to be spent on children than if it is given to men.'

Walby S, Auditing the Gender Implications of Recovery Policies for the Financial and Economic Crisis, meeting of European Platform of Women Scientists and European Commission, 28 April 2009

Recommendations:

- We recommend that each member state introduce a chapter on women's poverty into its poverty monitoring reports eg. National Action Plan (NAP) or successor, and fund its national equality body to produce annual digests of statistics on gender and poverty.
- In order to rectify the limitations and gaps in the available data, information should be collected on the following indicators of change in the labour market, poverty, and access to services:

Labour market:

- labour-market changes recorded in work contracts (long-term/short-term/fixed-term), broken down by women and men, over a six-month period;
- labour-market changes in contracts of women returning to work following statutory maternity leave;
- number of jobs held at one time, broken down by women and men;
- moves between full-time and part-time working, broken down by women and men;
- changes in working hours, broken down by women and men;
- moves between employed and self-employed status, broken down by women and men;
- changes to employment benefits (eg maternity/parental leave).

Increases in poverty:

- due to changes to informal caring patterns (women/ men);
- rise or fall in costs of childcare;
- due to change in care of dependent family members (eg. who is doing the caring, type of care [home, institutional, community care, independent living]);
- changes in financial assets (eg. savings/pensions);
- housing arrears (mortgage/rent), broken down by women and men and type of household (eg. single parent);
- repossessions broken down by type of household;
- numbers of women/men homeless;
- changes in health-care coverage over a six-month period (women and men);
- changes in income derived from other sources (social protection schemes);
- changes in access to rights due to social protection conditionality criteria.

Changes in access to services:

- introduce or improve monitoring of financing or availability of services across member states (eg. nurseries, transport, schools);
- carry out gender impact assessments of shifts in public expenditure on services;
- measure levels of domestic violence and availability of support services (eg. number of women seeking/ refused refuge, number of calls to helplines and police, as counted by both mainstream services and women's refuges).

2. Women's poverty and the impact of recession

In this chapter, we outline the existing situation of women experiencing poverty, summarise the evidence from the research in this study, and give country examples to illustrate the impact of recession in relation to key issues. Whilst each issue is treated as discrete, it is essential to recognise the overlapping connections and influences between them. Throughout the report we highlight that the thread bringing these issues together is the relative invisibility of women's poverty and social exclusion.

Although there have been changes and improvements, many statistics, policies, and interventions tend to be shaped, consciously or more often unconsciously, around what is seen as the norm. Perhaps the most obvious example is labour-market data, which, as identified in the previous section, still tends to collect data around the norm of full-time long-term employment, behind which still lies the assumption of a main breadwinner for the family, traditionally the man. There have been huge changes in labour-market participation in recent decades, with significant numbers of women now in the labour market – but the collection and analysis of labour-market data has not necessarily kept pace with these changes.¹

The section is structured as follows:

- · Poverty and standard of living
- · Changing employment patterns
- · Discrimination against women in the workplace
- · Unpaid work and care economy
- Women of migrant and ethnic origin
- · Violence against women
- Trafficking, prostitution and poverty
- · Social benefits
- Access to essential services (health, education, childcare)
- · Women's NGOs

1. Poverty and standard of living

'The disadvantaged position of women on the labour market increases the risk that they will be exposed to poverty. This was particularly true for those aged over 65, amongst whom the proportion living in households at risk of poverty (ie. having an income below the threshold set at 60 per cent of the national median income) was significantly higher for women than for men in EU-25 in 2006 (21 per cent compared with 16 per cent). This was a pattern in almost all member states.'

Commission staff working document, European Commission 2009

How poverty is defined influences how its gendered aspects are understood. The narrow concept of poverty as lack of income and access to goods and services ('consumption and income poverty') does not reveal its broader facets. For organisations such as Oxfam and EWL (and other organisations using a human rights based approach), poverty involves a denial of rights, opportunities, and choices for living a decent life. A gender dimension adds significantly to the concept of poverty, incorporating issues such as poverty of decision-making power, poverty of time, and poverty of means of self-determination.¹⁵

In 2006, the Commission's 'Expert Group on Gender, Social Inclusion and Employment' suggested, based on analysis of poverty in 30 European countries, ¹⁶ that: 'gender inequalities in employment combined with design inadequacies in social welfare systems produce a situation whereby poverty is disproportionately borne by women or is "feminised".' They concluded that a gender perspective was generally lacking in policy debates.

According to provisional Eurostat figures, 24 per cent of men and 26 per cent of women were at risk of poverty (before social transfers) in the EU-27 in 2008,17 but rates vary considerably between member states. In the new member states in particular, neoliberal reforms and recovery plans have had the worst effect on the most vulnerable groups in society, the majority of whom are women. For some of them, indeed, crisis has been a permanent state of their daily lives for the past two decades: 'Instability and the struggle for survival have been part and parcel of managing every day life for the last 20 years, as well as earlier, as the first signs of crisis of state socialism appeared in the 1980s.'18 Women facing poverty are amongst those who have paid the highest price of the transition of economies in Central and Eastern Europe: 'Inequalities in access to new wealth generated by privatisation, to paid work and other sources of income have been skewed against women. In turn, the social costs of transition, particularly those related to the transfer of responsibilities for social reproduction from the state to households, have been borne disproportionately by women.'19

Having said this, it is also important to recognise that the poorest groups in society – which usually contain a high proportion of women – may be less affected by labour-market fluctuations, given that many of them are already out of work. The research literature tends to suggest strong effects of recessions on the incomes of working-age individuals, but weaker effects on individuals who are retired or who are not strongly attached to the labour force.²⁰

The impact of recession - the evidence so far

In relation to the current recession. Eurobarometer opinion surveys²¹ highlight that women are more worried than men about their incomes, family budgets, and security in old age. Men were slightly more optimistic than women regarding the evolution of their household's financial situation in the next 12 months: 18 per cent [and below] of them anticipated a better financial situation in the year following the survey, compared to 14 per cent of women. Almost half of female respondents foresaw at least a low risk of having problems with being able to cope with paying ordinary bills, buying food or other daily consumer items in the next 12 months (48 per cent vs. 41 per cent of men). Women were more worried about the possibility that their income in old age would not enable them to lead a dignified life: 53 per cent of women (vs. 47 per cent of men) were 'very worried' or 'fairly worried', and 21 per cent of women (vs. 15 per cent of men) were 'very worried'. These conclusions are perhaps unsurprising, given the findings of previous research that women tend to bear the brunt of managing day-to-day family expenditure.²²

Facts as well as attitudes have changed. In Austria, for example, expenditure on housing, energy, and living costs has increased in recent years relative to income. High energy costs are especially burdensome for people on low incomes. The repayment of debts on a low income is often no longer possible. When debts are repaid, the remaining money is insufficient. Often, debt repayments cause rent arrears or the shutting off of energy supplies. Women try to buy food as cheaply as possible but this is often of lower quality.²³

Responses from EWL members (see 'Country examples' below) highlight the following themes: greater difficulty in obtaining work (Austria); rising housing, energy, and living costs (Austria, Romania); higher levels of debt and difficulty with repayments (Romania); less and poorer-quality food (Romania); increasing levels of debt among Roma women (Slovakia); and increasing fears about unemployment and incomes (UK).

Country examples

Bulgaria: Loss of jobs has further social implications – a lot of young families have taken bank loans for houses and now they are facing serious problems in

paying their mortgage. As a result, they may take on new debts and get into a vicious circle. The impact of recession on enterprise creation is very serious and a lot of women's enterprises have failed, reducing their income.²⁴

Romania: 'In both family and social life, women still having a job have many more responsibilities to deal with within a reduced budget. There is not any hope for a better life... working women are overwhelmed and have no time for themselves and the stress is terrible.'25

Further aspects of the crisis identified by Romanian women are: 'higher levels of debt and difficulty with repayment; incurring new debts; more difficult to pay rent/mortgage, heating, electricity, telephone and other basic services; using up more savings than before; less and poorer-quality food because of the rise in prices for the clients of our governmental institution; poorer quality of the medicine (drugs) they use.'26

Slovakia: The recession has increased debt levels among Roma women. Some Roma do borrow small sums through local Roma lenders. Interest rates are reportedly extortionate – 40 per cent or higher – compared with an interest rate for consumer credit of around 14 per cent.²⁷ According to the social workers from marginalised Roma communities, the precarious economic situation has caused extreme increases in indebtedness to private lenders. Among borrowers, women on maternity leave are highly represented since they have insufficient regular income from maternity allowance. More women have taken loans, and more women have more than one loan.²⁸

UK: Women's personal finances have been harder hit than men's, according to one official survey. Some 59 per cent of women said they cannot afford to save now. Among men, the figure was 49 per cent. Only 19 per cent of women were optimistic that their personal finances would improve over the next 12 months, compared to 27 per cent of men.²⁹

Recommendations:

- Gender-specific indicators in the field of poverty eradication and the promotion of social inclusion should be further identified, adopted, and monitored by the European Commission and the member states, in line with the Portuguese EU Presidency Conclusions on 'Women and Poverty' (2007).
- The current indicators to determine incomerelated poverty should be revised to better reflect gender differences. Poverty figures are based on accumulated household income, and assume that income is distributed evenly within households, with the consequence that income-related poverty among women is likely to be underestimated.³⁰
- The 'liberalisation' of energy markets³¹ (eg. gas, electricity) prior to the financial crash in 2008 has

resulted in 'energy poverty' for many low-income families. In the light of growing difficulties to meet energy bills, particularly in single-parent households, poor families should not be denied access to energy supplies.

 Many people in poverty do not pay very much (or anything) in direct taxes on their incomes; however they are hit disproportionately hard by indirect taxes (eg. VAT on food, goods, and services).
 We recommend that governments seek to claw back public expenditure deficits from direct rather than indirect taxes.

2. Changing employment patterns and their impact on poverty

"...in many countries the women who are furthest away from the labour market (lone mothers, the low skilled, etc), still face important barriers to find a job, and a job that pays (lack of childcare or of care for other dependants, involuntary part-time, lack of reconciliation measures)."

The Social Protection Committee, Growth, Jobs and Social Progress in the EU: a contribution to the evaluation of the social dimension of the Lisbon Strategy, September 2009

There have been very significant changes in the labourmarket position of women in the last decade. Women's increased employment is not only crucial for their own wellbeing, but also to the maintenance of household incomes. There are increasing numbers of two-earner households, but what is the impact if one or other loses their job? What are the gender dimensions of these changes? What do these changes mean for the expectations and possibilities of either or both, of the other? These effects are as significant as the changes in women's labour-market position, but remain relatively unmeasured. Here we give details of recent labourmarket changes, followed by evidence of the impact of the recession on women's labour-market position revealed in the survey. The impact of gaining or losing a job, or remaining on benefits, for single-parent households (majority women) are better measured and known. Overall, the financial position of single-parent households remains a matter of serious concern for many member states.

In the period between 2000 and 2008 there was a strong growth in the employment rate across the EU. One significant factor was a considerable rise in female employment: rates for women aged 25-54 rose six per cent – and for older women went up more than nine per cent during this period. However, employment rates for women were still substantially lower than they were for men (almost 15 per cent lower in the 25-54 age group, and 18 per cent lower in the older age group). Female activity rates (ie. those employed or unemployed) were

also much lower than the male rate, at 64 per cent compared to 78 per cent respectively (with the largest differences in Malta, Greece, and Italy, and relatively small differences in the Nordic and Baltic States).³²

Part-time work is much more common for women than for men in virtually all countries (in the Netherlands, for example, more than 75 per cent of female workers worked part time in 2008). Fixed-term contracts are also more frequent among female than male employees (eg. with relatively high rates in Cyprus, Sweden, and Finland).³³ In practice, labour turnover appears to be higher for women than for men in most countries.³⁴ At household level, the risk of poverty for people working part-time is 11 per cent against seven per cent for those working full-time, and the risk of poverty for people on temporary contracts is 13 per cent against five per cent for workers holding permanent contracts.³⁵

As in the past, unemployment was generally higher among women than among men in 2008 (particularly in Greece), although some countries (eg. Ireland and Romania) registered higher unemployment rates for men. Long-term unemployment is generally more frequent among women than men. In Slovakia, almost eight per cent of the female labour force was long-term unemployed in 2008, with Greece (six per cent), Portugal (four per cent), and Italy (four per cent) also having relatively high rates.³⁶

Although unemployment rates have been rising over the last year or so in all member states, the extent of this varies significantly between countries. The increase has been especially steep in certain countries (unemployment rates have roughly doubled in Ireland [up six per cent] and Spain [up seven per cent], and tripled in the Baltic States [up 9-11 per cent]).

Since the average unemployment rate in the EU reached a low in spring 2008, the rate for men increased by 2.9 percentage points to 9.1 per cent by August 2009, and for women by 1.7 percentage points to nine per cent. According to Eurostat figures, the absolute rise in male unemployment in the EU has been more substantial than that for women across all age groups. In terms of relative increase, the level of male unemployment rose by almost 40 per cent over the year to the second quarter of 2009, while for women it rose by around 20 per cent.³⁷

However, these headline figures do not necessarily reflect women's position accurately, as we identified earlier in this report (see above section on 'Limitations and gaps in data'). For example, by the second quarter of 2009, the number of employees in the EU with temporary contracts had fallen by 1.7 million (or around six per cent) compared with the second quarter of 2008; the impact of this shift is unclear as it depends on whether employees gained permanent posts or left employment. Moreover, the decline in full-

time employment has been offset to some extent by a continued increase in part-time employment; whilst the increase in part-time working among women has been significant, some of them will have felt pressure to go back to work because their male partners have been made redundant. As a result, they may find themselves coping with a 'double shift' of paid employment and care in the home.

Both of the trends outlined above will affect women more than men.³⁸ The rise in part-time employment of women also suggests that the change in the overall employment rate tends to overstate the additional amount of work performed by women.³⁹

Female unemployment can be further expected to rise disproportionately as consumption is shrinking (affecting retail staff) and public spending in the social sector is declining, since female workers are concentrated in those areas. Both as employees of the public sector and as users of services, for example care services, women are particularly sensitive to budget cuts. Such cuts are either planned or being implemented already across many member states in order to plug the public deficits created by the bailout of the banks, and to address the impact of falling tax revenues.⁴⁰

In terms of different sectoral effects, evidence from the recessions of the early 1980s and early 1990s appears to show that economic downturns tend to hit manufacturing much more than services; and within manufacturing, some industries are affected more than others, especially the engineering industries and others that manufacture producer goods. There are early indications that the present recession may follow a similar pattern, but until the first quarter of 2009, a serious drop in production of over 20 per cent had not yet fed through to massive job cuts (except in some countries, Spain being the prime example). Indeed, the scale of jobs losses in textiles, where women are in the majority of the workforce (cuts of ten per cent), and in construction where men are in the majority of the workforce (cuts of eight per cent), were more significant at this stage.41 To some extent, the less severe fall in manufacturing may also reflect the financial support packages provided in some member states, and also the temporary reductions in working hours instigated by some employers.

In some new EU member states, women tend to be employed in labour-intensive manufacture export industries (electronics and textiles) that are more prone to fluctuations in demand. A recession-induced downturn in exports to Western Europe has had a negative impact on output and employment in small open economies such as the Czech and Slovak Republics, Estonia, and Hungary, where exports accounted for 70-80 per cent of GDP in 2008.⁴²

'Economic sectors hiring more women than men are also being impacted: tourism and leisure, as well as banking and insurances services are suffering from consumption reduction as well as the impact on retail and distribution. Public services, with a high proportion of female staff are being reduced. Women in the service sector, on precarious contracts, have been very vulnerable to dismissal, and are big losers in the contraction of undeclared work...'.

European Anti-Poverty Network, Social Cohesion at Stake, 2009

The impact of the recession on women's employment

Beyond statistics, the evidence from EWL members (see 'Country examples' below) supports the argument that the major gender implications of the recession are increased precariousness of work and reductions in social protection - particularly for poorer segments of the population.⁴³ The pressure of reduced income in households means recession drives people to accept jobs below their education and qualification levels. This is particularly the case for women (especially mothers) who may find it harder than men to accept a job further away from home because of family responsibilities and limited access to public transport, especially in some rural areas.44 As a result, not only do they get lower salaries, with implications for family budgets, but the underlying gender pay gap - on average 17.6 per cent across the EU in 2009 - increases again, and there is a reversion to the economic dependence of women on men. Accepting a precarious/part-time job may often be connected with a loss of social security. Lay-offs and downsizing of staff are also causing women's working conditions to deteriorate and their workloads to increase.

At this stage, most forecasts indicate that the impact of the recession on employment and unemployment is not yet clear-cut. The European Commission has, however, endorsed the view that women are likely to be more affected as time goes by: 'As the effects of the economic crisis broaden beyond the male-dominated sectors immediately affected, and as these in turn provoke some job losses in female-dominated services sectors, it seems likely that there may be a more significant effect on female employment in coming quarters than that observed so far.' From a global perspective, the International Labour Organisation (ILO) also points to other female-dominated areas of the economy, such as social services, tourism and clerical support staff, as being next in line for layoffs, with redundancies in these sectors already starting in many countries.45

Country examples

Austria: According to an interview with a Caritas social consultant, the situation of socially-excluded women has been getting worse for the last two years. She reports that since the financial crisis, it has become even harder to find an adequate job; and many jobs are short-term and do not provide a living wage. It is very difficult for women with caring responsibilities to return to work (especially for single parents), because the working hours for low-wage earners often are not compatible with childcare availability, or employers refuse to employ women with childcare responsibilities.

Bulgaria: The situation is critical for single mothers, victims of domestic violence, younger/older women and disabled women. Many of those who lost full-time jobs have since been working on a part-time basis. For young women it is impossible to find a job, especially if they are single mothers or mothers of more than one child. The impact on Roma women is very serious, since they often have few educational qualifications and are unemployed. Increasingly, unemployed women are willing to take any kind of job without social insurance and other forms of social protection.

Czech Republic: Czech NGOs identify redundancy as the main impact of the crisis for women, particularly affecting mothers returning from maternity leave, mothers of young children in general, women over 50, and migrant women. In addition, many permanent contracts have been changed into contracts for services, where employees are not paid social and health insurance, do not get any sick pay, and can be dismissed without notice. In NGOs' experience, employers often use the recession as an excuse to discriminate against women. Many families have gone bankrupt because they were unable to pay their mortgages.⁴⁷

Slovakia: More than 90 per cent of employees in textile and related industries are older women of low educational status,⁴⁸ who are particularly vulnerable if they lose their jobs. Textile firms have suffered from the recession at least as much as car producers; recently, one of the biggest textile factories dismissed 654 people,⁴⁹ the majority of whom were women. For elderly women in small cities and rural areas, it is nearly impossible to find new employment.

Ireland: Since the start of 2009, the areas of employment in which women predominate have been severely affected. Whereas at the beginning of the recession job losses were overwhelmingly male, since 2009 the rate of female unemployment has increased in comparison to that of men. In 2008, while the construction sector was the first to experience serious job losses (of 45,900), the retail and wholesale trade, where women employees predominate, was the next sector affected, with 18,200 job losses. The hotel and services sector experienced losses of 10,500. Since

the start of 2009, the rate of female unemployment has steadily increased, peaking in July 2009 where the figures recorded a slightly higher number of women (5,500) than men (5,100) signed on the 'live register'.⁵⁰

Not only are jobs being lost, but employers are also using the recession as a cover for withdrawing hard-won rights for women workers. Women are experiencing reduced working hours and are unable to claim social welfare due to an outdated system which does not accommodate atypical work.

UK: The recession is affecting family life. More people are taking second jobs, and others are turning to 'shift-parenting', where one parent works in the day and the other at night to avoid childcare costs. One study, which has so far involved 1,000 families, has found that many parents have faced partial unemployment by being forced to reduce their hours when they would prefer to work full time. A positive side-effect, it added, was that more and more fathers were spending time at home with their children. The findings have emerged from the initial report of an 18-month inquiry by the charity, 4Children.⁵¹

Recommendations:

While the evidence from this study is limited, it seems to indicate that the recession may be being used to disguise a downgrade in working conditions, even in pre-existing precarious situations (eg. part-time, flexible work). Long-term contracts are being converted into short/fixed term; for some women this happens when they return from maternity leave.

These changes are not being captured by datacollection mechanisms because women are not generally losing jobs (and will not therefore be registered as unemployed). However, women's vulnerability in the labour market is increasing, and in the long term will impact on their poverty and social exclusion. Therefore, we recommend that:

- Gender-disaggregated data should be developed, and impact assessments undertaken, to explore the changing nature of employment conditions and the relationship with women's vulnerability to poverty and social exclusion. For specific recommendations on the indicators needed, see pages 15-16.
- Member states should be vigilant in enforcing existing employment rights, and the impact of changes to employment contracts and conditions on the gender pay gap should be assessed.

3. Discrimination against women in the workplace

'Gender equality is at risk if the downturn is used as a reason to slow down progress on equality policies, or even to rethink 'expensive' policies that help women on the labour market. When faced with challenging times some employers may be tempted to limit or cut policies that aid women, yet this approach may have longer term consequences for retention and aggregate levels of female employment. Negotiated concessions to protect levels of employment also need to recognise that women are already more likely to be employed in flexible jobs, be lower paid and/or work shorter hours, thus concessions risk a negative impact on inequality.'

Smith, M. Analysis Note: Gender Equality and Recession, EGGE – European Commission's Network of Experts on Employment and Gender Equality issues – Fondazione Giacomo Brodolini, Grenoble Ecole de Management, 2009

Despite the existence of equal opportunities and antidiscriminatory legislation, various inequalities between men and women in the labour market persist across the EU.

Discrimination against women in the labour market is the result of a range of factors: women are more concentrated in lower-paid jobs, or in lower positions in a company's job hierarchy (vertical and horizontal segregation). The gender pay gap is the result of such discrimination, meaning that women are on lower wage levels than men in comparable positions. It also results in women having fewer employment benefits such as pension rights and access to supported education and training, because a higher proportion have a broken work record or are part time (often due to caring responsibilities). Finally, women are often at greater risk of losing their employment rights because they are not as well-informed as they should be of what their rights are. Mothers are always very vulnerable to changes in the labour market and 'also tend to be last to be hired and first to be fired during times of economic hardship'.52 Many depend on social benefits provided by the state or employers during their maternity leave, or on child benefits.

In October 2008, the European Commission proposed to revise maternity leave provision, increasing it to 18 weeks, of which six would have to be taken after the birth. This reform has generated considerable debate, with issues relating to pay, duration of leave, and the protection of women on return to work proving to be major obstacles. The context of recession is making it more difficult to secure agreement, in particular due to arguments over whether such reforms are affordable.

The evidence for greater discrimination in times of recession

The evidence from this survey is that discrimination in the labour market is more likely to increase as a result of the recession. Some employers, faced with pressure on profits, are more likely to take the opportunity provided by the crisis to exploit women. Women may be more willing than men to work in precarious conditions, for less salary, and without social security, because of their poorer labour-market position and therefore poorer bargaining power. Some employers may be tempted to restrict policies and initiatives that assist women, or even to adopt illegal practices (eg. dismissing pregnant workers) in order to save money. Any signal from governments that equality is no longer a political priority may exacerbate this tendency.54 Of course, women face higher risks of losing their jobs if they are pregnant or on maternity leave, even during more stable times – but these risks are heightened at a time of recession, when the need to make underthe-counter job cuts or to reduce wage bills is more acute.55

Country examples

UK: NGOs, legal firms, and campaign groups report a sharp increase in complaints from women of unfair selection for redundancy, as well as covert techniques used by their employers to drive them out, such as altering working hours or refusing flexible-working requests. Even if women are not made redundant, there is evidence of managers making their lives harder by being less sympathetic to their childcare needs. Unions are reporting that people who had previously set work arrangements around childcare have now been told that they have to work Saturdays, or work in a location that is further away from their home or from the location of their childcare. In some cases, this amounts to employers driving women out of work – which can result in their losing out on statutory maternity pay and working families' tax credit.56

Slovakia: As a result of recession, women may be less aware of discrimination and harassment – or may be more willing to bear it. According to the Slovak national centre for human rights, which is responsible for monitoring the implementation of the Anti-discrimination Act, an increasing number of victims of sexual harassment simply put up with it rather than report it, as they fear losing their jobs in the recession.⁵⁷

Czech Republic: Women's NGOs have strongly criticised the cut to maternity subsidy.⁵⁸ Because of the recession-related cuts in state budget, mothers will get about one-fifth less maternity allowance compared with 2009 levels.⁵⁹

Hungary: EWL members provide evidence of cuts to maternity pay in Hungary. In 2008, before the global crisis, the government launched a strong campaign

against parental leave and in favour of the employment of women. The campaign was backed by some gender experts close to the government, and received very strong support from male educational experts in Roma integration, who argued that long maternity leave results in increased poverty among the Roma population. In 2009, these ideas suddenly turned into concrete proposals. After a new, 'crisis tackling' government was formed, it came to light that maternity pay would be cut to one year, and parental leave to two years. This was not accompanied by any measures to help women find employment after the second year, nor money for building nurseries, nor measures to make part-time work more desirable for employers (it is very rare in Hungary), nor state campaigns or legal amendments to parental leave to involve fathers more in childcare.60

UK: Despite protective legislation, women in the UK already face an unacceptably high penalty at work for becoming mothers, according to the Fawcett Society. Thousands who have babies could now face even harsher consequences, with rogue employers using the recession as an alibi to protect them against the charge of discrimination.⁶¹ According to the Equality and Human Rights Commission, an estimated 30,000 women lose their jobs as a result of pregnancy every year - without factoring in the economic downturn. No firm data exists about the impact of the credit crunch on discrimination by employers, and it is too early to identify any rise in tribunal cases. But lawyers and campaign groups say the numbers suffering discrimination are increasing sharply because employers see pregnant employees and mothers as soft targets. Those who complain are likely to be the tip of the iceberg, as many women are reluctant to make a fuss for fear of being branded a troublemaker.62

Ireland: The National Women's Council of Ireland (NWCI) has heard from women who have had their employer 'top up' to maternity benefit reduced, women coming back from maternity leave who have been asked to go on contracts (which ensures that they will not be entitled to maternity leave if they need it again); and women who have been asked to work part time, but on a flexible basis, giving them a pay cut but no opportunity to cut back on childcare costs. Parenting websites, and other female-dominated discussion boards, tell a similar tale.

Recommendations:

 Relevant national authorities (statistics agencies, equality bodies, government departments, etc.) should compile data on the numbers of women who have filed complaints on the basis of sex discrimination in the workplace since the recession in 2008, and undertake analysis of the causes on an ongoing basis.

- Laws protecting pregnant women/those who have recently given birth/women with children, from discrimination in the workplace, should be more actively enforced by member states.
- A new Maternity Leave Directive should grant at least 24 weeks maternity leave, paid to the level of the last monthly salary. The Directive should also ensure better legal protection from dismissal, and more flexible working-time arrangements for mothers.²

Unpaid work and care economy – how it increases women's poverty

The gender distribution of time devoted to paid work versus unpaid domestic and family work is a crucial indicator of gender equality in society. 63 How reproductive work in society is recognised and rewarded is a key factor in the inequalities of distribution of income between men and women – and thus for social and gender justice. Across the EU, the share of those with care responsibilities declaring that they are inactive, or working part-time due to a lack of care services, has increased from 26.7 per cent in 2006, to 29.8 per cent in 2008. 64 In practice, this affects women disproportionately as they do the bulk of unpaid care work – as carers of children, older people, and those in need.

Here a common double standard is at play: such work is considered to be valuable, necessary, and socially useful, but it is not paid or adequately rewarded. Under these conditions, some groups of women have very limited options. They may depend on a husband/ partner with a good income, or they may qualify for limited state support. And, as the International Trade Union Confederation has argued, 'More evidence from job segregation along gender lines is found in low-paid informal work and domestic employment sectors, which both more often employ female than male workers. The high rate of women employed in these areas is another explanatory factor of the disproportional sharp decline in the real wages of women workers during economically tough times. More people are forced into informal work and homework during an economic downturn, which leads to increased competition for this type of work and consequently to downward pressure on wages. Moreover, benefits or other forms of government support hardly exist in these sectors, which negatively impacts on a woman's income when she loses her job.'65

'Governments may depend on women's underpaid or unpaid work to deliver or even replace public services as they seek to reduce care's financial burden on the State. Yet unpaid care work is one of the biggest barriers to equality for women and affects their ability to upgrade skills, find highly paid jobs, join in social dialogue, and benefit from social protection.'

International Labour Office (ILO): Gender equality at the heart of decent work, Geneva 2009

The likely impact of recession on caring and unpaid work

In some member states, social care services are being weakened. In such circumstances, in addition to their role as wage earners, women are often also the main carers for dependent family members. Reductions in public expenditure may well result in the transfer of paid-for care services back to women's unpaid reproductive role, occupying their time and further preventing them from fully participating in all aspects of life. Similarly, the impact of expenditure cuts to support services in socio-economically disadvantaged communities will result in a greater reliance on women, both within families and in the community.⁶⁶

In a time of economic recession, as a result of cuts in public expenditure, care work is shifted to the private sphere, which is often seen as a natural source of public expenditure savings.⁶⁷

Particularly in times of economic recession, when the family income decreases, the 'double burden' of paid work and care, usually undertaken by women, rises with the pressure to undertake more intensive paid work in order to maintain basic needs. The European Anti-Poverty Network suggests: 'When the man loses his job, many women who bear the primary care responsibilities are pressured into getting full time jobs. often facing severe challenges in work/family balance, as well as new poverty traps, due to lack of affordable childcare and other services and the restricted chances of finding reasonably paid employment.'68 Women who are migrants may also encounter particular obstacles: if they entered the EU for the purpose of family reunification they may face reviews to their resident permit when their male husband/partner becomes unemployed.

Country examples

Slovakia: An estimated 25,000 Slovaks, mainly women, provide care services for households in Austrian families. If the recession puts pressure on the Austrian government to downsize the care-related financial support to families, this will have a negative impact on both groups of women: Austrian women will be expected to care for their family members, and Slovak women will lose their jobs and income without

any chance of finding similar work at home. Falling remittances are also likely to mean economic hardship for the Slovak women's families in their home country. In **Germany**, where Czech and Polish women provide care services for German families, the situation is the same.

Recommendations:

- We recommend a review of the current method of measuring GDP as an indicator of growth and wealth, which excludes women's vital unpaid contribution to the economy and to society as a whole
- As a first stage, 'satellite accounts'³ should be developed at EU level, similar to those provided by the United Nations, as a step towards making women's unpaid work visible.

5. The poverty of migrant and ethnic minority women

Migrant women across Europe are increasingly providing the infrastructure that enables higher numbers of native-born women to enter paid employment, especially in medium- and high-skill occupations. However, the unregulated, insecure, and privatised nature of many migrant women's work – as cleaners, housekeepers, hotel and tourism staff – leaves migrant women open to exploitation.⁷⁰

Public fears about the pressures placed by migrants on public services, communities, and cultures, as well as concerns about threats of terrorism, have become widespread amongst citizens in migrant-receiving countries, making integration highly problematic and heightening the risks of discrimination, abuse, and violence towards migrants.

Although research evidence is very limited (much previous work has focused on male migrants), one EU study of migrant women in the labour market ⁷¹ suggests also that they face considerable structural obstacles. The include inadequate provision of appropriate housing (ie. in locations conducive to better employment), limited access to key public services, and discrimination in the labour market on the basis of nationality, ethnicity, religion and/or gender.

Human rights advocates are alarmed by reports indicating an upsurge in violent attacks targeting migrants, refugees, asylum seekers, and minorities such as the Roma. They state that: 'Europe's history demonstrates how economic depression can tragically lead to increasing social exclusion and persecution. We are concerned that in times of crisis, migrants, minorities and other vulnerable groups become "scapegoats" for populist politicians and the media.'⁷²

According to the Roma Rights Centre: 'the violent attacks targeting Romani communities have intensified in some countries since the beginning of 2008. In Hungary, more than 23 violent attacks have been recorded claiming eight lives. In the Czech Republic and Italy, pogrom attempts have been witnessed. The increasing problems of Roma are not limited to these countries, however. What we observe across Europe is an increase in anti-Romani sentiments, often expressed violently. Many attempts have been made to establish a connection between the rise of extremism and the global economic crisis. According to this argument, the global economic crisis has (at least in part) triggered extremism.'73

Although none of above-mentioned reports pays special attention to the situation of Roma women, they are particularly vulnerable. For example, they may be victims not only of increased racist violence but also of domestic violence (see below).

Impact of the recession on migrant women

Country examples

Bulgaria: Roma women in Bulgaria are likely to suffer disproportionate economic hardship as a result of the crisis. As Roma people are over-represented in the sectors most affected by the worsening economy (their lower level of education means they are over-represented in the unskilled workforce), their unemployment levels are likely to rise faster than those among other ethnic groups. Roma women and children remain highly vulnerable to trafficking.⁷⁵

Ireland: Proposed cuts to Irish social welfare will have an impact on migrant women, who are most at risk of social exclusion and poverty. There are many migrant women who find themselves in highly vulnerable situations of extreme exploitation and forced labour. Many are undocumented and are not covered by the social welfare code. Cuts added to the already restrictive conditions (the 'Habitual Residence Condition') will undermine their capabilities to recover, regain confidence, and ensure quality of life. Many of these women cannot travel home again due to stigmatisation and forced migration, and are dependent on the social welfare system. An increase in cuts will only add to their vulnerability.⁷⁶

Recommendations:

- Immigration and integration policies should seek to break down structural obstacles to migrant women's full labour-market participation, so that they are not restricted to part-time and insecure work with few, if any, employment rights.
- The rights of migrant women to decent wages, social protection, and access to health care (including sexual and reproductive health care) and education, should be guaranteed by member states.

³ Satellite accounts provide a framework linked to the central accounts, enabling attention to be focused on a certain field or aspect of economic and social life in the context of national accounts; common examples are satellite accounts for the environment, tourism, or unpaid household work. See: http://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=2385

- Governments and NGOs should encourage more informed public debate about the social and economic contribution of migrant women to the EU, particularly to the domestic/care economy.
- Migrant women in situations of family reunification should be ensured an independent legal status.

6. Violence against women

The costs of domestic violence to the economy, and the way in which it makes women experiencing it poorer, has been well known for many years. A European study estimates that the total annual cost of domestic violence against women in the 27 member states of the EU could be as high as €16bn in 2006, amounting to €33 per capita per annum, or €1m every half hour.4 The funding of specialist services supporting women who have suffered violence has been a campaign issue for women's organisations for many years, with some success in different countries. Women's organisations continue to highlight the patchiness of services in different areas; the way in which levels of investment rarely meet the need; the varying levels of understanding amongst service providers of how to recognise domestic violence when they see it; and the different levels of support available.

How recession is worsening domestic violence

An understanding of how gender roles and identities are constructed provides insights into how the economic recession contributes to increasing violence against women. For men, loss of earning power can represent a significant challenge to their sense of their role and entitlements as men, and can result in them blaming women for their plight. For some, this can ultimately lead them to react with violence.

Country examples

Bulgaria: NGOs reported an increasing number of victims of domestic violence as a result of the recession. Because of a lack of security and financial resources, women victims of domestic violence prefer not to take any steps for protection, and to remain silent about the situation at home.⁷⁷

Estonia: Women's organisations have expressed concern that domestic violence is on the increase as economic hardship and unemployment hit families; women's shelters continue operating, as funding from the Open Estonia Foundation was granted to continue their services (thanks to an initiative by women's NGOs). However, this is highly precarious since there is no government or municipal funding for women's shelters to guarantee their sustainable operation over the long term.⁷⁸

Netherlands: Leaders of local women's shelters believe a downturn in the economy is one factor in a recent spike in demand from women seeking domestic

violence services. The Centre for Women in Transition saw a 49 per cent jump in the number of women and children assisted by emergency shelters in the May to August quarter between 2008 and 2009. Not only are there more people seeking refuge, but they are also staying longer.⁷⁹

Ireland: Women's Aid announced details of calls to its Domestic Violence National Free Phone Helpline and its support services in 2008. Many callers disclosed that they are trapped in abusive relationships and are more vulnerable to abuse due to the recession. Callers to the helpline disclosed more than 15,000 incidents of physical, emotional, sexual, and financial abuse in 2008. Many women reported that they were experiencing domestic violence before the recession, but that the economic downturn was leading to more frequent abuse and more dangerous abuse. In particular, women disclosed that abusive men were using the recession to excuse their behaviour. In addition, there has been a significant escalation in calls to Rape Crisis Centres.80 In its budget for 2010 the Irish government has introduced further cuts to frontline services, at a time when the demand has increased.

Romania: According to one interview respondent: 'the Romanian government already has destroyed, during the last two to three years, the NGOs' services for women affected by violence.'81

Another woman spoke about the increased occurrence and intensity of domestic violence by partners: 'There was only one crisis centre and one shelter for battered/ abused women in Lasi County, but both vanished because of the lack of funding sources. There is not any free juridical assistance for these women. The forensic services are based in Lasi, and because of the increased price of public transport, and the very long duration of the travel (due to very bad infrastructure), women cannot afford to benefit from the forensic service. Also it is not that cheap, and there are that signs that the price is likely to be raised.'

Slovakia: Rising male unemployment is a threat to women in relation to partner violence. According to the representative survey of violence against women, in 2008 up to 21 per cent of women who had a partner at the time of the survey experienced a violent or 'acute violent' relationship.83 One of the main reasons given for the outbreak of violent behaviour by a partner was his unemployment or failure at work. The escalation of partner violence could be expected also as a consequence of the traditional attitude of the dominant male breadwinner role and the male partner's sole responsibility for the economic security of the family.84 According to the research, a typical perpetrator of partner violence is a man aged 45 or more, with a low level of education, who works manually or is outside the labour market altogether.85

At the end of 2009, about half the women's crisis centres in Slovakia reported a rising number of women exposed to domestic violence, as well as women with children seeking shelter after divorce or losing their job. All centres reported financial problems arising from the economic crisis, as public authorities cut spending and grants to women's NGOs which provide support to victims of domestic violence. Furthermore, private donors also tend to save money even if they are not hit directly by the crisis. Thus the current situation for these NGOs is very difficult, as more clients need to be helped with fewer resources.⁸⁶

UK: Whilst no UK-wide statistics are available, research by Women's Aid in Scotland has revealed a sharp, eight per cent rise in the number of incidents of domestic abuse over the previous year. Moreover, a record 53,000 domestic abuse cases were recorded in Scotland last year, but more than half the female victims faced being turned away from secure refuges due to lack of space.⁸⁷

The recommendations below combine measures generic to tackling the poverty which results from domestic violence, with specific suggestions for tackling the problem in the context of recession.

Recommendations:

- The EU and member states should take all necessary measures to address and eradicate all forms of violence against women, as an inherent part of gender equality strategy, policies, and actions.
- Public services must better support women experiencing domestic violence: they must be properly resourced; workers must be trained to ask the questions which will reveal domestic violence; and appropriate support must be provided through mainstream services such as health, employment, housing, and education. The most vulnerable women, including migrant women and those with insecure immigration status, must receive additional support.
- An EU Directive on Violence against Women, as called for by the European Parliament Resolution on violence against women (P7_TA(2009)0098), 26 November 2009, and also called for in the EP report on equality between women and men 2010 (Tarbella report European Parliament resolution of 10 February 2010 on equality between women and men in the European Union 2009 [2009/2101(INI)]), should be brought forward to ensure protection and support for women, and sanctions for the perpetrators of violence.
- A European Action Plan on violence against women should be developed, with specific funding. This should include recognition of and support for the role of women's NGOs working with victim-support

- services, and set precise targets and funding for service provision to victims.
- Ongoing and systematic monitoring should be established to measure progress in relation to the fight against all forms of violence against women.
 In particular, issues of violence against particularly vulnerable groups of women (eg. ethnic minorities, migrant women, women in institutions or in detention, minors, women with disabilities, older women, and refugee women) should be addressed.

7. Trafficking, prostitution, and poverty

Trafficking women for sexual exploitation comprises a significant portion of overall human trafficking. 'Sex trafficking can also occur alongside debt bondage, as women and girls are forced to continue in prostitution through the use of unlawful "debt" purportedly incurred through their transportation or recruitment – or their crude "sale" – which exploiters insist they must pay off before they can be free.'⁸⁸ The economic recession is affecting not only trafficking of migrant women; due to declining opportunities to find a decent job, women are more easily enticed into the sex industry, even in 'rich countries'.

The impact of recession on trafficking, prostitution, and poverty

According to US Secretary of State Hillary Clinton: 'as the ongoing financial crisis takes an increasing toll on many of the world's migrants – who often risk everything for the slim hope of a better future for their families – too often they are ensnared by traffickers who exploit their desperation.'89 The global economic crisis is also boosting the demand side of human trafficking, for example in the demand for agricultural labour organised by illegal gangmasters.

Faced with increasing poverty exacerbated by recession, the evidence in this study is that women may well become desperate to make enough of a living to survive. The rise of extreme poverty gives rise to trafficking in women, to prostitution, to violence, and more generally to exploitation of all kinds.⁹⁰

The tough times also seem to be affecting the work of anti-trafficking NGOs, which often provide crucial services in the absence of adequate government or private-sector programmes. One example of this is in Hungary (see 'Country examples'), though it appears that the problem is much more widespread. According to the evidence from this study (see below), trafficking has recently increased in various countries (Germany, Hungary, and the UK). In Germany and the UK, there are suggestions that more women are turning to prostitution and that attacks on prostitutes are becoming more common.

Country examples

Germany: There are more German women choosing prostitution as the only way to combat poverty – around 60 per cent of prostitutes in Berlin are German women. According to an organisation supporting women in the sex industry in Berlin, 'since the crisis started more women in the age group 40-50 went on the streets – it is so-called poverty prostitution'. A similar situation has been reported from Switzerland where, following dismissal from jobs, young Swiss women have no choice but to get involved in pornography production or 'escort services' which are very often synonymous with prostitution. Sa

Hungary: 'Experts have noted a significant increase in trafficking within the country; mostly women from eastern Hungary trafficked to Budapest and areas along the Austrian border. Roma women and girls who grow up in Hungarian orphanages are highly vulnerable to internal sex trafficking. While the government's anti-trafficking hotline referred an increased number of victims for assistance, and the police implemented a new trafficking database to help improve victim identification, the government's overall efforts to combat trafficking declined. The government did not provide funding to NGOs for victim assistance and protection, and caused one NGO to close its trafficking shelter (one of only two in the country) when it cancelled the lease for the government-owned building in which the shelter was housed. While the government offered alternative shelter space to the NGO, the location of the proposed facility was too remote to be practical for providing adequate assistance to victims.'94 Therefore extremely vulnerable women are being made even more so as a result of recession-induced cuts in services.

Slovakia: A similar situation to that in Hungary has been reported. According to social workers from a Roma settlement, trafficking in women for sexual exploitation and forced begging increased in the last year. There are more regions in Slovakia where women are vulnerable to forced prostitution and becoming victims of trafficking.⁹⁵

UK: As the economic recession hits, more women, especially mothers, are likely to resort to prostitution to support their families. A growing number of women are turning to prostitution because of the recession, reported a welfare group in Leicester. A single mother who has been working as a prostitute for several years said: There are a lot of new people starting to work, and women I haven't seen for donkey's years. I ask them why they're back and they tell me it's all about money – the gas or electricity bills, and the costs of supporting a family. The support group also revealed that more women were turning to prostitution for the first time to make ends meet after losing their jobs.

in attacks on prostitutes. A tenfold increase in assaults by clients who refuse to pay has been reported in Liverpool.

Recommendations:

- The EU and member states should prevent trafficking for the purpose of sexual exploitation, protect women victims of trafficking, and prosecute buyers and pimps. We call for full ratification and implementation by all the EU member states (that have yet to do so) of the Council of Europe Convention on Action against Trafficking in Human Beings, 2005. This has not been signed by Czech Republic and Estonia; and has not been ratified by Finland, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, the Netherlands, and Sweden (nine EU countries).
- Mechanisms should be established to ensure that the gender dimension of trafficking in human beings is part of all policies aimed at preventing and combating trafficking.
- Female victims of trafficking for sexual exploitation should be guaranteed strengthened rights and support, as well as access to residence permits.
- Support should be provided for the networking of organisations, especially NGOs, that are involved in the provision of assistance to victims and the rehabilitation and repatriation of women victims of trafficking.

8. Poverty and social benefits

Given the huge complexity of member state social security systems, it is beyond the scope of this study to present a comprehensive picture of either the existing situation of women in relation to social benefits, or more recent developments across EU member states. The examples below therefore provide some pointers, but should be treated as illustrations rather than detailed analysis.

In response to the crisis, most member states have affirmed their commitment to support the most vulnerable people through their benefit systems. There is evidence, for example, of a temporary relaxation of eligibility criteria for unemployment benefit in some countries (eg. France and Italy). However this is not universal. In other states (eg. the UK, Sweden, the Netherlands, and Ireland) 'activation policies' and welfare reforms have tightened eligibility criteria in order to compel claimants to take up employment - even though jobs are very hard to come by. The European Anti-Poverty Network argues that: 'holes are clearly appearing in safety nets at the very time when these are most needed. Social Protection schemes ensuring minimum income and specific support for the most vulnerable are proving insufficient to cushion the impact of the crisis'.

According to the European Commission and the Social Protection Committee: 100 'Social protection systems and social inclusion policies have started to play their role as automatic economic stabilisers and as effective mechanisms for cushioning the social impact of the downturn.' However, the Social Protection Committee also argues that 'attention should be paid to the adequacy of benefits, especially in member states with major weaknesses and loopholes in their safety nets'. 101

Country examples

Czech Republic: Government reforms in 2008 have already had a negative impact on women. Reductions in direct taxes mainly benefited men (who earn significantly more), whereas increases in indirect taxes disadvantaged women (who take responsibility for family food and basic needs), resulting in more day-to-day poverty in the household.¹⁰²

On a temporary basis during 2010, the daily rate for determining sickness benefits has been unified at 60 per cent, abolishing the more advantageous rate for long-term inability to work. The same threeday 'guard period' has been introduced for benefits paid when caring for a dependent family member, as is now applied to wage compensations, meaning that benefits are not paid for the first three days of sickness/care (they used to be paid after one day). Since the overwhelming majority of carers are women, and most illnesses last for less than three days, such a measurement means that women will have further earnings reductions. ¹⁰³

Estonia: From 1 July 2009, the period not covered by sickness benefits was increased to three days. For the subsequent five days of illness, sickness benefits are paid by the employer at a rate of 80 per cent of the average wage of the employee. As a result, employees increasingly opt to work despite being ill.¹⁰⁴

Ireland: The cuts to child benefit introduced in the 2010 budget have reduced the only state support to mothers for all costs relating to children, including childcare. The view that this is a kind of 'luxury' and should be one of the first things to go in the recession is both short-sighted and detrimental to women's participation in every aspect of society.

In February 2009, the NWCI surveyed its members about child benefit and the potential impact of further cuts or reductions. The survey highlighted the critical importance that parents currently place on child benefit and other direct payments. Forty-five per cent of respondents said that it would be a 'financial disaster' for their families if child benefit was cut in the budget. Two-thirds of respondents said that child benefit is currently a 'critical part' of family income. 105

Recommendations:

- Gender-sensitive universal social protection standards (including access to good quality education and health care, and income security) should be established in all member states to address the needs of women, men, and children facing poverty and social exclusion.
- The European Commission should encourage, and all member states should ensure, levels of basic social protection for all working-age adults including women – with enhanced social protection for the most vulnerable women, such as young women.

9. Access to essential services

Here we look broadly at changes across the EU in essential services, draw out concerns about the impact of cuts in public spending on women, and give country examples.

Health and social services

Spending on EU health systems generally increased in the last few years for a range of reasons, including the need to meet the increasing demands of an ageing population, the introduction of new technology, and rising public expectations about access to high quality care. There are around 20 million workers in the health and social services sector across the EU, which accounts for between five and 13 per cent of GDP in the EU economy. Women make up 78 per cent of the workforce, and almost half are below age 40. Although it is early to draw conclusions, the recession is clearly imposing pressure on state budgets. Whilst there have been some recent announcements of significant job creation in this sector (eg. 400 jobs by Fresenius Medical Care and 250 jobs by MedLife [Romania]), deeper cuts have also been announced (700 jobs by Orbis [Netherlands], 570 jobs by Riga's Hospital No.1 [Latvia]; and 265 jobs by Centre Universitaire Hospitalier, Reims [France]).

Particular concern surrounds women's access to sexual and reproductive health services. Sexual and reproductive health services are crucial in giving women control over their bodies, and therefore in efforts to achieve gender equality. As the United Nations Family Planning Association has argued: 'In a time of crisis, funding for sexual and reproductive health, gender equality, and prevention of HIV, unwanted pregnancies and preventative care in general, are often first to be discontinued. In the time of narrowing national budgets, there is a risk that family planning services, pre- and post-natal services, may be perceived as non-essential and dropped as a result.'106 Evidence from member states on the effect of recession on sexual and reproductive health services is limited; however this is an important area requiring further monitoring.

Education

In 2006, in all European countries (except Greece and Luxembourg), over 60 per cent of teachers in primary and secondary education were women. In four countries (Bulgaria, Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania), 80 per cent of teachers at these levels were women. In contrast, less than 50 per cent of tertiary-level teachers in all countries (with the exception of Latvia and Lithuania) were women. 107

Although there are wide variations between member states, public investment in education in the EU accounted for five per cent of GDP in 2006. Denmark had the highest relative investment level in education (eight per cent of GDP), followed by Cyprus (seven per cent), Sweden (6.8 per cent), and Finland (6.1 per cent). However, the Commission has recently warned: 'As a result of the current economic downturn many European countries will be increasingly limited in the amount of resources that they have at their disposal and in the ways in which they may use them. In some member states, infrastructure budgets will be at risk whereas in others, investment in education (school infrastructure, hiring new teachers, etc.) is part of the recovery plan; this investment will assist in the shortterm re-launch of the economy and is expected to enhance the long-term economic perspectives.' It goes on to report forecasts of significant falls in particular in public expenditure on higher education, with cuts in seven member states (by around six to ten per cent). 108

The impact of recession on essential services

'Women were more likely to say that in the past six months it had become somewhat or much more difficult to afford general healthcare (32 per cent vs. 26 per cent of men), childcare (14 per cent vs. 11 per cent) and long-term care services (26 per cent vs. 21 per cent).'

Monitoring the social impact of the crisis: public perceptions in the European Union: Analytical report, Flash Eurobarometer 276, October 2009

The European Commission and the Social Protection Committee¹⁰⁹ have outlined evidence of public investment by some member states in social and health infrastructures (including hospitals, GP practices, nurseries, schools, universities, social care, and long-term care infrastructures, social housing, etc.) in order to boost the construction sector and generate labour demand, while improving access to social services.

But this is only part of the story. Due to the recession, governments are facing serious challenges to welfare-state systems. Evidence from EWL members suggests that initial governmental stimulus packages are already giving way to cuts in public expenditure at national level as governments seek to address budget deficits. This trend can be expected to continue. Women are likely

to suffer both as employees in public services, where they are strongly represented (eg. health, childcare, education, public administration), and as clients of public services which are crucial for their participation in the labour market and their economic independence.

Evidence from this study (see below) suggests that a range of effects on education are already visible, including: closure of schools (Bulgaria), rising pupil-teacher ratios (Estonia), and cuts to support services for children with special needs and those who need help with the English language (Ireland). Meanwhile, in Germany, spending on schools and childcare services has increased, but only for infrastructure projects.

'As women tend to bear the main responsibility for childcare in the household, their labour market participation can be influenced by the availability, quality, and type of childcare. Women often leave the labour market because childcare facilities are unavailable, too expensive, inaccessible, or inadequate. Indeed, women without children are more often employed than those with children.'

Foundation Findings, Childcare Services in Europe, European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, 2009

Another vital source of support for parents, and women in particular, is childcare provision. Affordable and good quality childcare services can help women to balance work and family commitments, facilitating labour-market participation and promoting gender equality. Quality services also have an important role in fostering positive child development.

The EU has a long-standing interest in promoting the development of accessible and high quality childcare services. According to the 2002 Barcelona targets, the European Council agreed that member states should strive to provide childcare to at least 90 per cent of children aged between three and the mandatory school age, and to at least 33 per cent of children under three, by 2010. These targets were reaffirmed in the Council's Employment Guidelines (2008-10).

However, a recent analysis by the European Commission's Expert Group on Gender and Employment Issues (EGGE)¹¹⁰ of childcare services across the EU concluded, that due to budgetary constraints, 'despite all the efforts and improvements, high quality and affordable childcare facilities are still in short supply' and many member states are 'far from reaching the Barcelona childcare targets'. There are wide disparities in access to services across the European countries, ranging, in terms of childcare, from 61.7 per cent in Denmark to less than 15 per cent in Austria, Germany, Hungary, and Italy.¹¹¹ Many of the new EU member states have a history of high female labour-market participation, supported by high quality childcare services. However, a decline in childcare

services in these countries over the past decade has led to an increase in the number of women working part time or remaining outside the labour market.¹¹²

The recession appears to be making this situation much more acute in some countries. For example, according to EWL members, the number of childcare centres has reduced (eg. Bulgaria), opening hours have been cut (eg. Estonia), and the cost of places has increased (eg. Ireland). Other evidence suggests that support for books and materials has been reduced (Estonia); and in Hungary, subsidies on meals in kindergartens and schools have been cut by two-thirds.¹¹³

Country examples

Bulgaria: The quality and the number of social services - such as kindergartens - has decreased. The government is planning to close about 50 schools in rural areas. 114 Access to school is very difficult for many children because of the cost of transport, books, etc. In rural areas the closure of services such as hospitals, schools, and kindergartens has a devastating impact on women, who form the bulk of the workforce in those institutions. To find a new job in a rural area is very hard, and it is more difficult for women to migrate than men, because of their family and household responsibilities.¹¹⁵ Furthermore, it is women who care for sick children and family members. Since September 2009, 21 hospitals - mainly in small villages/cities have been closed, creating high unemployment in areas with poor infrastructure, including roads. This has resulted in a lack of health services for local populations, including for pregnant women who now have to travel 40-60km to attend antenatal hospital care and/or to give birth. It also means an increased burden of care responsibilities for women.

Czech Republic: NGOs providing social services have received less funding from the state over the past year. As a result, agencies do not have sufficient funds to pay the mainly female staff, 116 and women affected by the recession are receiving less support with services than before.

Estonia: Women are concerned by a worrying tendency to shorten the opening hours of childcare services, which undermines their ability to reconcile work and family life. Education services have also faced cuts; the number of pupils in classes has risen, as have teachers' workloads. These measures have a major impact on women who are in the majority in the education services workforce.¹¹⁷

Ireland: The financial crisis has left low-paid women particularly exposed as the predominant users of social and public services. The crude measures of value for money used by the McCarthy group (an independent body set up by the Irish government

in 2009 to make recommendations for saving public expenditure) are incapable of measuring the contribution which women make to Irish society through their work within their communities – in many cases, women set out to fill the gaps left by inadequately-funded social services. The cuts proposed to social welfare will undoubtedly increase women's poverty, reduce women's economic independence, and create new barriers for women attempting to move from welfare to work.

While the overall cost of living is falling, the cost of many items on which women on low incomes spend a high proportion of their income, is in fact rising. Childcare has increased by 6.4 per cent, with average prices for one childcare place in Dublin between €800-1,000 per month. Similar increases are seen in the cost of electricity (4.7 per cent), public transport (11 per cent), and hospital fees (9.1 per cent). Women rely on social welfare to a greater extent than men and face an increased risk of poverty.

The lack of support services for children to participate in education increased pressure on parents as they attempted to compensate for those services, and it is primarily mothers who fulfil this role in families. There is also no evidence provided in the McCarthy Report to justify a reduction in these services.¹¹⁸

Recommendations:

- The gender impact of expenditure cuts on access to high standards of health care should be assessed.
 Access to health care services, including sexual and reproductive health care, should be monitored regularly – especially for the most vulnerable women.
- The gender impact of cuts in education systems should be monitored, particularly with regards to Special Needs education and languages education for children of migrant origin.
- Member state commitments to the Barcelona targets on childcare, fixed until 2010, should be renewed.
 A Commission report in 2008 showed that in most countries these targets, particularly for the 0-3 age group, were far from being met. New childcare targets should be developed that recognise not only numbers and costs, but also the quality of care.
- The gender impact of reductions in public spending in rural areas should be monitored.
- Free or subsidised childcare should be provided to allow women to take up jobs and training, and greater financial assistance provided for all carers so that women are not impoverished by their caring responsibilities.

10. Support for women's NGOs

Women's organisations cover a wide range of issues, such as equality between women and men, human rights, economic independence of women, violence against women, employment, health, social affairs, education, environment, and development.

Women's NGOs have contributed to significant changes in legislation, policy, and public attitudes across Europe, and their campaigning role on behalf of women remains essential at a time of recession. This study found evidence of women's organisations carrying out a range of campaigning and lobbying activities in various countries (Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Ireland, and Latvia). However, the evidence from respondents in this research highlights the precarious circumstances of women's NGOs in Bulgaria, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Romania, Slovakia, and the UK. Budgetary cutbacks as a result of the recession are clearly an important factor, but not the only one.

Access to private donor funding is severely curtailed in some member states as a direct impact of the recession, because private donors' reserves were directly affected by the crash of the financial markets. This is particularly the case for women's NGOs in member states where the reliance on this source of funding was high due to the absence of public funding.

Country examples

Bulgaria: All women's organisations have suffered serious financial problems since the beginning of the recession. Women's rights and gender equality have never been prioritised by the Bulgarian institutions, and since the crisis they have totally forgotten these topics. At the same time, many foreign donors that traditionally provided funds for women's issues have reversed or changed their policies, contributing to the serious shortfall in funding.¹¹⁹

Czech Republic: The Women's Lobby responded publicly several times to issues relating to the recession. It has issued appeals to politicians, has held press conferences, issued press releases, published several articles, made presentations in the media, and organised meetings with politicians. Recently it applied for funding for a project to track the impact of the recession on women.

Estonia: Cuts in public spending endanger the survival of women's crisis centres, which rely on financial support and donations. Indeed, our research highlighted a lack of secure funding for and/or cuts in domestic violence services and refuges in Estonia, Slovakia, and the UK. Overall, it is to be expected that a higher number of female victims of domestic/intimate-partner violence may need to be supported by weakened services. More stress is put on women's

crisis centres, which are run mostly by women. As is often the case in times of crisis, society relies on women to provide care and a safety net through informal paid and unpaid work.

Hungary: Women's NGOs do not get funding from the national or local governments. The only project calls are from the EU development funds, but few women's NGOs have the necessary cash flow to avoid bankruptcy (as payments are always very late; in practice they are not pre-financed but have to be reimbursed). 120

Ireland: The National Women's Council is particularly concerned at measures taken in the 2010 budget to amalgamate two key programmes currently charged with promoting equality for women. The Community Development Programme and the Local Development Social Inclusion Programme will be amalgamated into one programme, the Local Development Social Inclusion Programme, resulting in the closure of 180 community projects (24 of which are women's projects). The new programme is a cost-saving measure, which does not target women, prevents effective representation, and serves to dismantle the autonomy and critical voice of communities and women at local level. The current financial crisis and recession have already impacted negatively on NGOs which respond to domestic violence, with services experiencing cuts in their funding and some at risk of becoming non-viable or having to reduce service delivery. There are grave concerns that funding to vital services may be further eroded in future budgets. Refuge provision also remains inadequate, and many women and children are denied access to refuge each year. The experience of the Women's Aid National Helpline is that many women and children cannot access the emergency accommodation and support they need, when they need it.121

Romania: According to an interview with an NGO activist: 'organisations working with women are in the worst situation in Romania, along with other NGOs, since Soros (the most important donor for women's issue in Romania) cut its funds. You need to work much more, with less money, and there is no future.'122 Another respondent pointed out: 'As far as I know there are no funds for organisations working with women... real NGOs in Romania do not have access to the structural funds in Romania because of the extremely weak fiscal provisions for the not-for-profit sector. NGOs cannot face the cash-flow problems of the structural funds. In addition, fundraising for organisations working with women is not at all possible.'123

Slovakia: Apart from very small grants, the European Structural Funds (ESFs) are the only funds available to enable women's NGOs to survive. Global donors changed their criteria and private donors are very rare due to the recession; and there is little political support

for gender equality. While NGOs were initially quite successful in acquiring ESF support for their projects, in recent years many new organisations have applied for funding for gender equality projects without any expertise or experience in gender issues. Due to the high level of corruption and nepotism, and through having 'the right' political contacts, these organisations are very successful in getting funding for any kind of projects - including gender equality projects - while authentic women's NGOs are left behind. Furthermore, the government withholds funds from women's NGOs which are critical of the state policy on gender equality (ie. NGOs which produced the Shadow Report to CEDAW¹²⁴). Thus women working in the NGO sector often reflect the gender stereotype of female unpaid work, since their only other option would be to give up. 125

UK: According to research by the Women's Resource Centre: 'There is no single reason why women's organisations lack adequate investment, but rather it is likely to be a combination of lack of women's sector representation and influence in decision making processes, gender-neutral policies, the shift away from grant aid and increasing use of competitive tendering, and other factors (such as the recession)." It predicts that a continuing diminishment of the women's voluntary and community sector is likely to have serious, long-term, and adverse consequences for service users, local communities, and government commitments to women's equality.

Recommendations:

- Women's NGOs should be recognised as part of the solution for the development of a post-recession framework; all key stakeholders should engage in civil dialogue with women's NGOs.
- Public funding should be increased to enable
 women's NGOs to continue to make women's voices
 heard, and to influence legislation, policies, and
 public attitudes. These roles should be strengthened
 in times of recession so that women's NGOs can
 inform policy-makers of the ways in which the
 recession is impacting on women's lives and how this
 should be addressed.
- While respecting the principle of transparency, there
 is a need to lessen the bureaucratic obstacles (eg.
 huge delays in payment once projects have been
 approved) and burdens (available cash flow, bank
 guarantees), which prevent small- and mediumsized NGOs from accessing available funding
 mechanisms.

3. Policy responses

Both member states and the EU have responded to the recession and financial crisis with recovery packages. Although recovery packages cannot provide a total solution to the economic crisis, they can help to protect populations from its most adverse impacts. Such packages tend to involve two types of measures. First, they seek to restore macroeconomic stability, through job creation and support to the business sector; and second, they attempt to cushion the impact of the crisis on consumers in general, and vulnerable groups in particular.

This is a complex topic, and we cannot do full justice to it given the scope and timing of this paper. We acknowledge that expenditure, for example on infrastructure, will have multiplier effects, the indirect impact will be considerable, and their success or failure can only be judged in the longer term. Here, we examine EU responses from a gender and poverty perspective, acknowledging that they represent only a small part of the total recovery packages of all member states.

EU legislation, directives, and guidelines are extensively underpinned by requirements and recommendations to pay attention to the gendered impact of economic and social measures on poverty. Policy responses to the financial crisis and economic recession also need to acknowledge and respond to the differential impact on women and men, based on their different roles and responsibilities and on the responses of governments. Both men and women lose jobs and earnings, but who loses what depends on the structure of the economy, and the extent to which its policies are gender-blind or gender-sensitive.

In this section we examine the responses of the EU member states, and the EU as a whole, through a 'gender lens'. Although the issues are addressed here in separate sub-sections, it is important to note that there is some tension between competences at member state and EU level which makes it difficult to design a coherent overall approach. For example, employment policies are part of EU policy processes (the Lisbon Strategy on Growth and Jobs and the European Employment Strategy), but social security systems are a national competence.

Whilst the overview in this chapter remains partial and provisional, in general it highlights a lack of gender analysis in the design and implementation of recovery plans at all levels. This is in spite of the strong commitment at the heart of the EU Treaties (and also in the European Commission's *Roadmap for equality between women and men 2006-2010*) to gender equality and gender mainstreaming.

National government actions and recovery plans

Over the past year, most member states launched stimulus packages and recovery plans to cope with the financial, economic, and social problems created by the recession. Walby provides a useful framework for auditing the gender implications of EU and member state recovery plans, 127 based on a preliminary analysis of the Commission Communication on 'Driving European Recovery'. 128 We draw extensively on this framework below.

The Communication identifies four groups of policies implemented by member states: supporting industrial sectors and companies (31 per cent); supporting labour markets (16 per cent); supporting investment (32 per cent); and supporting household purchasing power (21 per cent).

In relation to support for industrial sectors and companies, it is essential to identify the gender composition of the workforce in sectors and companies that are given support. Whilst most of the measures taken focus either on increasing the volumes of subsidised loans or loan guarantees available to businesses, other measures - fiscal incentives or direct subsidies to consumers in the car, tourism, and construction sectors - are aimed at bolstering sectorspecific demand. As we identify elsewhere in this report, the actions taken appear to have prioritised saving the jobs of car and construction workers, most of whom are men. Whilst some funding has been distributed to support the ailing textile industry, where women workers predominate, this has been at a much lower level (see in particular evidence from the European Globalisation Adjustment Fund in the section on 'EU actions and recovery plan' below).

Measures supporting the functioning of labour markets include temporary working-time reductions and flexible working-time arrangements, easing labour-market transitions through increased training opportunities, reduction of taxes on labour, targeted tax cuts, changes in the design of unemployment benefit systems, and changes in wages (including cutting the public sector wage bill). Given the statistics outlined above (see section on 'Employment and economic activity of women'), which demonstrate that women are over-represented in temporary and part-time work, it is likely that women will be significantly affected by changes to working time. Similarly, women are likely to be negatively affected by reductions in state expenditure; the impact will be both in reduced wages in the public sector (where women are the majority of workers), and in reduced access to services (of which women are the primary users).

Measures to **support investment** activity include physical infrastructure (investment in roads, railroads, ports and airports, and renewable energy); energy

efficiency; and research, development, and innovation. Walby comments that the infrastructure appears to be focused on fixed capital rather than human capital (eg. training), and that this means the majority of this investment is in areas of the economy where men are disproportionately present.

Measures to support household purchasing power include tax reductions, adjustment in social security contributions, and income-support measures that target low-income households. The European Anti-Poverty Network (EAPN) has highlighted some of the specific measures introduced by governments, which they believe have, to some extent, helped to protect people facing poverty and social exclusion. Examples are: measures against financial exclusion (Czech Republic, Spain, France, and Bulgaria); increases in benefit levels (Belgium, Czech Republic, and Romania); improvements in the guaranteed minimum income (Spain and Finland); increases in pensions (Spain, Germany, Finland, Cyprus, Greece, and Romania); and support for training and new jobs (Czech Republic, Sweden, Finland, and the UK). There are also measures to provide extra support to households, especially to families with children, in the form of a one off allowance (France), an increase in children's benefits (Germany and Czech Republic), improvements in health-care packages (Malta) and fiscal policy (Austria), and payments to alleviate energy bills (Greece and Cyprus). However, EAPN concludes that: 'the positive short-term social measures are insubstantial compared with the amounts spent on banks and business and do not fit the size of the social impact of the crisis... Most EAPN members complain that the Recovery plans, which primarily aim at the revitalizing of industry and business and boosting consumption, are not really helping people experiencing poverty.'129 Moreover, without more detail on the precise measures, it is not possible to discern the gender impact with any certainty.

Country examples

Czech Republic: The Czech government has introduced a national recovery plan without considering gender equality at any stage. The impact of the crisis on women and men has not been monitored. The government established a National Economic Council, but there are no female members.¹³⁰

Estonia: Keeping the 2010 deficit below the Maastricht deficit limit presents a key challenge for the Estonian government. Given the projected deterioration of the economy, and notably a further rise in unemployment, achieving this target calls for significant cutbacks. This means a lot of social costs falling on women due to major cuts affecting social spending. There are no plans or actions that specifically take into consideration the impact of the crisis on women.¹³¹

Hungary: Hungarian economists and political analysts do not use gender analysis methods, and the approach at governmental level is gender-blind. The few gender experts and NGOs have no voice at this level. The present government, which was formed as a result of the crisis, is the first Hungarian government for many years without any female member.¹³²

Ireland: Proposed recent cuts would – according to the analysis of the NWCI – impact on women at three levels. First, there will be increasing numbers of women who are unemployed, dependent on social welfare, and living in poverty. Second, there will be less support for women and families. Third, at national level, there will be no strategy or infrastructure to address women's inequality.¹³³

Slovakia: The Slovak government adopted several measures to tackle the economic recession and support economic growth and employment, such as scrappage schemes and infrastructure/construction projects. All these measures have largely secured male jobs, while 'female' service sectors have not been supported in the same way.¹³⁴

Recommendation:

 A gender impact assessment of economic stimulus packages will enable governments to make informed choices about who will benefit, depending on which gender predominates among employees. Economic stimulus packages should be gender-responsive, addressing the differential needs of women and men, and providing mechanisms for reaching the most vulnerable women.

EU actions and recovery plans

'To reduce the negative impact of the current economic crisis on people's lives and jobs, policy responses should reflect the experience, knowledge and interest of women as well as of men. Therefore, when it comes to gender equality policies, we must not lower our guard: their contribution to economic and social development remains as crucial as ever.'

European Commission, Report on Equality Between Women and Men 2009

Alongside efforts to restore and maintain a stable financial system (which are not addressed in detail in this report), the EU's efforts to promote employment in response to the crisis have concentrated on: maintaining employment, creating jobs and promoting mobility; upgrading skills and matching labour-market needs; and increasing access to employment. ¹³⁵ Initiatives include the following:

 The European Economic Recovery Plan (EERP) was adopted by the European Council in December 2008. The Plan involves a €200bn recovery package

- (including a financial contribution from the EU itself of €30bn) to help mitigate the impact of the financial crisis, and calls for fiscal stimulus and structural reforms at both member state and EU level.
- Access to the European Globalisation Adjustment Fund (EGF) is being made easier and more effective to cover redundancies caused by the crisis, by co-financing training and job placements. The EU funding rate has been increased from 50 per cent to 65 per cent until the end of 2011, and the eligibility threshold for EGF applications has been lowered from 1,000 to 500 redundant workers. In addition, the duration of EGF support has been extended from 12 to 24 months to provide sufficient time for re-integrating particularly the most vulnerable people into new jobs.
- Changes to the European Social Fund (ESF) to ensure greater access and support to the labour market: €19bn in support is allocated through the ESF for 2009-2010. Assistance is provided to member states to put in place rapid reaction packages, with speeded-up procedures.
- Proposing the establishment of a new micro-finance facility to provide credit to people who have lost their jobs and want to start their own small businesses.
- A 'new skills for new jobs' initiative to improve the analysis and prediction of the future skills requirements of the European economy.
- Stepping up monitoring of the employment and social situation, including through the publication by the European Commission of a new series of monthly monitoring reports on the rapidly changing situation.
- The Commission Communication 'Driving European Recovery' in March 2009 outlined a number of elements to help member states design and implement policy responses to the economic crisis.

The above measures have focused primarily on employment initiatives. As yet, however, it has been less clear what the role of the EU's Social Protection and Social Inclusion process can and should be, and what initiatives are being developed. 136 Expert studies are underway in all member states on the social impact of the crisis. However, there are currently no plans to make this information publicly available. As a result, public debate about, and oversight of, the impact of the crisis on the most vulnerable people is to some extent hampered. One consequence of this is that the impact on women remains relatively hidden. Ironically, equality between women and men is an overarching objective of the 'Open Method of Coordination' (OMC) - a peer process between member states for monitoring social inclusion.

Alongside EU-initiated activities under the ESF, the EGF most directly addresses the issue of restructuring. The EGF supports active labour-market measures. Funds are disbursed on a case-by-case basis, following a proposal by the European Commission and adoption by the European Council and the European Parliament. So far, activity under the EGF has been relatively limited compared to ESF intervention. However, it is interesting to analyse the distribution of the cases that have been awarded or submitted. A notable feature is the dominance of the textile industry and, to a lesser extent, the car and mobile phone industries. By 19 August 2009, support for textile companies (in Italy, Malta, Lithuania, Spain, and Portugal) stood at €40m; support for car plants (in France, Portugal, and Spain) at €19.4m; and for mobile phone companies (in Germany and Finland) at €20.3m. Given that textiles, clothing and leather are industries with high numbers of female workers, this financial injection from the EGF does appear to have offered significant support to women.¹³⁷

The limited evidence from this particular fund suggests that there has been some attempt to consider the gender dimension in resource allocations. However, it must be borne in mind that the sums involved are extremely small in relation to the overall fiscal stimulus packages. Analysing this particular fund does not necessarily provide a representative overview. For example, whilst not providing a direct comparison, it is worth noting that the European Investment Bank, which has increased annual lending by €15bn per year in 2009 and 2010, provided loans amounting to €4bn to the troubled car industry in the first four months of 2009, dwarfing any intervention to support textile companies. Meanwhile, the European Central Bank had lent banks in the Eurozone €442bn by 24 June 2009. To gain a realistic picture of how funds have been allocated, both at member state and EU levels, and the impact of this on male and female employment, more in-depth analysis of the detailed figures is required.

Recommendations:

The EU has a long-standing obligation under the EU Treaties¹³⁸ to eliminate inequalities and to promote equality between women and men in all its activities. Reducing poverty and social exclusion and promoting greater social inclusion has also been a key EU policy priority since 2000: the Social Inclusion Process has the stated aim of making a decisive impact on the eradication of poverty and social exclusion by 2010.¹³⁹ In light of these commitments, we recommend that:

 The findings of this report are communicated to the European Parliament's Special Committee on the Financial, Economic and Social Crisis (October 2009-September 2010), for consideration in its final report (scheduled to be adopted in September 2010).

- The allocation of EU funds differently to women and men should be monitored on an ongoing basis.
 In addition, it is essential to assess inequalities in allocation between different groups of women (and men), and to monitor the access of women's NGOs to EU funding.
- In the context of the new Structural Funds cycle (2011-2017), gender equality should be integrated as an objective and specific guidelines developed on gender budgeting; and allocation of Structural Funds should be assessed in the framework of gender equality.
- Within the Open Method of Coordination, the Social Protection Committee should propose a peer review on women's poverty, addressing in particular the impact of the recession on women.

4. Conclusion

This report has looked at the existing situation for women experiencing poverty in Europe, and provided a snapshot of evidence from women's organisations of the likely impact of the recession.

The research on which it is based was commissioned in October 2009 and completed in January 2010. As a short-term project it does not claim to offer a comprehensive, in-depth analysis of the complex issues involved. Rather, it adds some evidence, seen from the perspective of the last quarter of 2009, to a picture of existing poverty and social exclusion for women in Europe.

Evidence has been provided on a range of issues, including standard of living, employment discrimination, unpaid work and the care economy, social benefits, and access to essential services. The report pays particular attention to the way in which women are vulnerable.

Based on the analysis and examples from different EU countries set out in the main body of this report, it is clear that the existing poverty and social exclusion of women is compounded by the effects of recession. We give evidence to show that the recession is already having a significant negative effect on the lives of women, not only in relation to the labour market, but also, crucially, outside it. The report documents, among other things:

- Precarious work conditions, increasing discrimination in the labour market, and shifts to informal work.
- Rising levels of poverty, with some women increasingly unable to secure a decent life for themselves and their children.
- Reduced access to services due to reduced provision or increased cost.

 Rising levels of domestic violence, accompanied by cuts in vital support services.

The massive sums spent by EU governments to rescue the banks and provide support to failing industries, although necessary to stave off widespread economic collapse, have resulted in large public-spending deficits. Action to reduce these deficits is likely to fall - or in some cases, is already falling - unfairly on people in poverty, especially through cuts to health, education, and social protection budgets. In Ireland, for instance, a series of budgets have cut child benefit by ten per cent, unemployment benefit by four per cent, and public sector pay by 50 per cent. In Greece, a raft of measures has been announced which will cut the public sector and increase taxes significantly. Other member states experiencing budgetary deficits, such as Spain, Portugal, and some eastern countries, are also under pressure to impose austerity measures.

There is a risk here that action to shore up banks and financial markets is being paid for by cuts to social protection systems and social inclusion policies. EAPN questions why cutbacks should fall on the social sector and argues that: loans and bailouts should be recouped directly from the banking and financial sector; revenue to the public account should be rebuilt through more progressive taxation, taxes on capital gains, and tackling tax avoidance and evasion; and expenditure should be reduced across public budgets – not just social budgets.

The evidence set out in this report suggests that not only is this analysis valid, but also that the gender dimension needs to be taken fully into account. The EU's Advisory Committee on Equal Opportunities for Women and Men argues that most member states characterise their interventions as being 'gender neutral', with only a few undertaking any gender impact assessments when developing new policies. As is demonstrated in this report, one consequence is that governments routinely prioritise subsidies to, for example, car plants and construction sites over subsidies to sectors where more women work. According to EWL members, most countries did not consider the gender impact of their recovery plans at all (eg. Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, and Ireland).

In assessing the gender impact of the stimulus packages and cutbacks it is important not only to evaluate whether a concrete measure has different effects on men and women, but also to analyse whether the anti-crisis policy forms the basis for long-term stability, and counters discrimination against women. The gender effects of recovery measures to counter the crisis need to be monitored to ensure they do not jeopardise progress made in the last decades towards more gender-equal societies.

This research concludes that the impact of the recession is likely to make women's existing poverty and social exclusion more acute over time as the effects of labour-market shifts are increasingly felt within households, and cuts in public expenditure affect public services and the many women who work in them and use them. It will, however, take some time for the full effects of the recession to become apparent. Exploring these issues is an essential part of developing a more coherent picture of how poverty is exacerbated by recession.

Recommendations:

- A financial transactions tax, applied globally, could raise billions every year. Half of the revenue should be spent on domestic needs in countries where it is raised and the remainder on international priorities, such as the Millennium Development Goals and tackling climate change.
- It is essential to undertake gender impact assessments of the recession, and to track changes over time – especially because women are likely to be disproportionately affected by any future cuts in public spending and services (both as workers and users).
- All policy responses and recovery plans should recognise the importance of building the resilience of poor women to cope with both day-to-day and longer-term shocks, protecting their existing assets, and helping them to find new ways of building a sustainable livelihood.
- The European Commission Social Protection
 Committee should respond to the International
 Labour Organisation call for a 'universal social floor'
 on income security, which could improve the lives of
 vulnerable women in Europe.
- In the short term, member states should examine
 the need for emergency increases in out-of-work
 benefits and tax credits, which could be paid for
 from a tiny tax on banking transactions (see previous
 recommendation).
- Gender budgeting should be adopted to assess spending on men and women within economic recovery plans and other public budget processes.
 Alternative accounting measures should also be developed to ensure that women's unpaid activities in the reproductive economy are recognised in systems of national accounts.
- Monitoring of the gendered impact of the crisis on poor communities should be increased. For example, little or no research has as yet been conducted on the impact of the recession at community or household level (eg. on informal caring patterns; on family life and domestic violence; on financial assets

- such as savings or pensions; on housing arrears or repossessions; or on the costs and availability of childcare).
- Women's participation should be ensured in decision-making processes affecting the design, implementation, and monitoring of stimulus packages and other measures to aid recovery.
 Women's groups need to be supported to develop greater participation in economic discussions at both national and international levels.

APPENDIX A

Methodology

The methodology involved the following steps:

- A questionnaire to member organisations of the European Women's Lobby (EWL) to gather information about the impact of the recession on gender relations – and on women in particular – in each country. The questionnaire covered a range of issues, including: national recovery plans, employment/income, services, health/wellbeing, violence against women, discrimination, and family/ social life.
- Responses were received from women's organisations in ten countries. Those participating were:

Bulgarian Coordination of EWL
Czech Women's Lobby
Estonian Women's Association Roundtable
Hungarian Women's Lobby
Coordinamento Italiano della Lobby Europea delle
Donne (Italy)
The National Women's Council of Ireland
Women's NGOs Cooperation Network of Latvia
Lithuanian Women's Lobby
Romanian Women's Lobby
Slovak Women's Lobby

- A small number of individual interviews and discussions were undertaken with female activists working with women in poverty, in order to supplement the written information provided by EWL members.
- Secondary research and literature searches
 were carried out for materials on gender and the
 recession. This included documents from a range
 of levels (international and EU institutions, member
 states) and from different perspectives (state, media,
 NGO, academic). Most of the documents accessed
 were from 2008-2009.
- Findings from the questionnaire, interviews, and literature searches were analysed from a gender perspective.
- The project was supported and managed throughout by a small Advisory Group, consisting of representatives of Oxfam GB and the European Women's Lobby, and the researchers (Sandy Ruxton and Olga Pietruchova).

APPENDIX B

Questionnaire for EWL members:

Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe

This study for Oxfam and the European Women's Lobby aims to explore the **hidden impact of the recession on women's poverty and social exclusion in Europe**.

Little research has been conducted as yet on the impact on households, where women bear the brunt of cuts in incomes, employment, benefits, health care, housing, and services – and potential increases in violence against them.

Against this background, we are seeking qualitative information/case studies in order to build a fuller picture than is available from official data. Given the short time frame for this project it will not be possible to conduct an in-depth qualitative analysis. However we would ask you to respond as fully as possible to the questions below:

Questions

1. Has the government of your country introduced a national recovery plan in which measures of crisis management are included, such as short term support to industry, subsidies etc.? If yes, for which industry or products? Is gender equality considered in any way in the plans and action?

Do you have suggestions of **short/long-term actions** that should be taken to counter the negative impact of recession on women:

- by civil society/private sector/unions/governments in your country?
- by the EU institutions?
- 2. Do you know of **any research** (secondary or primary) or policy analysis done in your country into the impact of the recession on women during the last 12 months? If yes, please send it ASAP!

What kind of data is missing; what type of data should be collated at country and EU levels to give greater visibility to the impact of the recession on women's poverty and social exclusion? What **further research** do you suggest should be done in your country (and across Europe) in order to establish how the recession is affecting women in the long term?

- 3. As a women's organisation, have you responded to the recession through press releases, other press contacts, briefings, letters to government, other lobby actions (please specify and indicate the issues raised)? If yes, what was the response and follow-up? Did you contribute to any of the research identified in question 1?
- Are you aware of other organisations in your country that have taken up the issue of the impact of recession on women? Please describe.
- Has there been a particular impact on your organisation or other organisations working with women (eg. Reduction in funding and services?).
 Please describe.
- 4. From your contact with **individual women** you work with has the recession particularly affected them in any of these ways? Please give details. We are interested in both **direct impact** (ie. women directly affected themselves) and **indirect impact** (ie. partner has been directly affected but with real impact on women's lives as a result).

Note: Please pay particular attention to the experiences **of women with particular vulnerabilities** – eg. single mothers, disabled women, younger/older women, migrant women, undocumented women, women from minority communities, women in rural areas, women experiencing violence.

Proposal for areas and issues to be focused on:

Employment/Income

- Loss of jobs or earnings, including welfare benefits
- More difficult to access social welfare benefits including unemployment, sick benefit, others
- Changing to more casual and informal work, including undeclared work (including in the 'sex' industry? – this information may be available from organisations dealing with sex workers)
- Forced to look for additional income/job, less time for children and own interest
- Using up more savings or pension than before, finding it difficult to save; finding it more difficult to live on a pension
- Higher levels of debt, difficulty with repayment, making new debts
- Rise in cost of housing, or loss of home
- More difficult to pay rent/mortgage, heating, electricity, telephone and other basic services/food

Services

 Reduced provision or increased price of services incl. public services (public transportation, education, health etc.)

- Reduced access to public services (eg. health, childcare, education, training, transport)
- Rise in cost of childcare, or using more unpaid care because paid-for childcare is more expensive

Health/wellbeing

- Less or poorer quality food and utilities (eg fuel) because of rise in price
- Changes in life-style patterns, including health care less inclined to see the doctor if ill, postpone medical check-up also in the area of reproductive health and other preventative health-care practices
- Mental health issues (higher levels of stress, more physical/chronic pain, worrying, anxious for the future: for themselves, their partner, their children, their broader family circle, etc.)

Violence against women

- Increased occurrence of/intensity of domestic violence by partner (please contact crisis centres or NGOs dealing with VAW if possible)
- Have there been or are planned cuts in services for women affected by violence?

Discrimination

 Discrimination against women/undermining of women's rights, using crisis as excuse to do so (eg. redundancy as a result of maternity)

Family/social life

- Unable to go on holiday or visit friends/family, social isolation, cuts in free time activities
- Forced to give up paid household services, care for family members etc.
- Given up the wish of having a (or another) child.

Has **this evidence been documented?** Please let us know if it is any of these – interviews, anecdotes, stories told to you, survey you have carried out, via other organisations, newspaper articles.

Is there evidence that any of the issues raised above are **likely to worsen over the next year** (eg. planned cuts in public expenditure)?

Could you arrange and carry out a telephone interview with a woman/women who has/have been affected by the recession, at short notice? If this is possible, this will take place and be used in full confidentiality, as the purpose of the interview is to illustrate the real impact on women. Please use this questionnaire as a basis for the interview.

5. Are there any other issues that are particularly important in your country that are not addressed in the questions above? Please comment.

References

- ¹Unemployment rose massively in some countries during 2009 (11 per cent in Latvia, seven per cent in Spain, six per cent in Ireland)
- ²European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions, European Restructuring Monitor Quarterly, Issue 3, Autumn 2009
- ³Council of the European Union (2009), 'Updated joint assessment by the Social Protection Committee and the European Commission of the social impact of the economic crisis and of policy responses Full Report', Brussels: Council of the European Union.
- European Anti-Poverty Network (2009), 'Social Cohesion at Stake: The Social Impact of the Crisis and of the Recovery Package', Brussels: EAPN
- ⁵TNO/ZSI/SEOR (2009), 'Investing in the Future of Jobs and Skills Scenarios. Implications and options in anticipation of future skills and knowledge needs, Sector Report Health and Social Services', Brussels: TNO/ZSI/SEOR
- ⁶M. Smith (2009), 'Analysis note: gender equality and recession, Gender Experts Group paper'
- ⁷Advisory Committee on Equal Opportunities for Women and Men (2009), 'Opinion on the Gender Perspective on the Response to the Economic and Financial Crisis', Brussels: Advisory Committee on Equal Opportunities for Men and Women
- ⁸Council of the European Union (2009), op. cit.
- ⁹Oxfam GB (2009), 'Close to home: UK poverty and the economic downturn', Oxford: Oxfam GB; European Women's Lobby (2009), 'Women, the Financial and Economic Crisis the Urgency of a Gender Perspective', Brussels: EWL
- ¹⁰European Restructuring Monitor (2009), 'Restructuring in Recession', Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions
- 12Smith (2009), op cit.
- ¹³Bennett, F. (2008), 'How low-income families use their money', in J. Strelitz and R. Lister (eds.), Why Money Matters: Family income, poverty and children's lives, London: Save the Children
- ¹⁴ISG Work Programme 2008
- 15A. Niemanis et al. (2007), Gender Mainstreaming in Practice: A Toolkit. PART II: Sectoral Briefs, Second Edition, Bratislava: United Nations Development Program.
- ¹⁶C. Fagan, P. Unwin, and K. Melling (2006), Gender Inequalities in the Risks of Poverty and Social Exclusion for Disadvantaged Groups in Thirty European Countries, Luxembourg: European Commission
- ¹⁷Figures refer to the share of persons with an equivalised disposable income, before social transfers, below the risk-of-poverty threshold, which is set at 60 per cent of the national median equivalised disposable income (after social transfers). Retirement and survivor's pensions are counted as income before transfers and not as social transfers.
- ¹⁸E. Charkiewicz (2009).: The Impact of the Crisis on Women in Central and Eastern Europe. Toronto: AWID.
- 19 Ibid.
- ²⁰A. Muriel, L. Sibieta, 'Living Standards During Previous Recessions', Briefing Note 85, London: Institute for Fiscal Studies
- ²¹The Gallup Organization, 'Monitoring the social impact of the crisis: public perceptions in the European Union: Analytical report', Flash Eurobarometer, 276, October 2009
- ²²Women's Budget Group (2005), Women's and Children's Poverty: Making the links, London: WBG
- ²³Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Austria. Interview with a Caritas social consultant
- ²⁴Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria
- ²⁵Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Romania. Interview with a female medical doctor due for retirement because of health problems, a women activist living in a village
- 26/bid.
- ²⁷World Bank (2003), 'Life in Slovakia's Roma Settlements', Beyond Transition, http://www.worldbank.org/html/prddr/trans/ (last accessed March 2010)
- ²⁸Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from
- Slovakia. Interview with a Roma social worker and women rights activist
- ²⁹Harriet Harman (2009), 'Women more worried about economy than men', *The Telegraph*, 4 March
- $^{\mbox{\tiny 30}}\mbox{see}$ Report on equality between women and men 2010
- ³¹EU Regulation on the Internal Market of Electricity and Gas
- ³²European Commission (2009), 'Employment in Europe', Brussels: European Commission Directorate-General for Employment, Social Affairs and Equal Opportunities ³³Ibid.
- ³⁴OECD (2009), 'Looking inside the perpetual motion machine: how industry, firm and worker characteristics shape job and worker flows', *Employment Outlook*, Paris: OECD
- ³⁵The Social Protection Committee (2009), *Growth, Jobs and Social Progress in the EU: a contribution to the evaluation of the social dimension of the Lisbon Strategy*, Brussels: European Commission Social Protection Committee
- ³⁶European Commission (2009), 'Employment in Europe', op. cit.
- 37 Ibid.
- 38/bid.

41ERM (2009) op. cit.

- 39 European Restructuring Monitor (2009), 'Restructuring in Recession', Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions
- ⁴⁰M. Smith (2009), 'Analysis note: gender equality and recession, Gender Experts Group paper' Brussels: EGGE European Commission's Network of Experts on Employment and Gender Equality issues (2009), Fondazione Giacomo Brodolini, Grenoble Ecole de Management.

42World Bank (2009): 'Turmoil at Twenty - Recession, Recovery, and Reform in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union', Washington DC: World Bank

- ⁴³W. Harcourt (2009), 'The Impact of the Crisis on Women in West Europe', Toronto: AWID
- ⁴⁴Questionnaire for EWL members:Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Estonia
- ⁴⁵International Labour Organisation (2009), Gender equality at the heart of decent work campaign, Geneva: ILO
 ⁴⁶Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria
- ⁴⁷Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Czech republic
- 48 Kríza tvrdo dopadla na textilný, odevný a kožiarsky priemysel', *Pluska*, 26 February 2009
- 49Marcela Glevická and Viera Žaludková (2009), 'Makyta prepustí 654 l'udí. Dôvodom je aj rast minimálnej mzdy', Povaska, 3 November.
- ⁵⁰Central Statistics Office (2010), 'Live Register, February 2010', Dublin: CSO
- ⁵¹Anushka Asthana (2009), 'Recession-hit couples turn to 'shift-parenting' to stay afloat' *The Observer* 22 November.
- ⁵²AWID (2009), ,Women Need a Bigger Voice at the G20 Summit',25 september 2009, . http://www.awid.org/lssues-and-Analysis/Library/Women-Need-a-Bigger-Voice-at-the-G20-Summit (last accessed 24 March 2010)
- ⁵³A directive is also currently being drafted on the separate issue of parental leave. The EU Council of Ministers reached an agreement in November 2009, which would extend this from three to four months for each parent, of which one month would be non-transferable.
- 54M. Smith (2009), 'Analysis note: gender equality and recession, Gender Experts Group paper' Brussels: EGGE European Commission's Network of Experts on Employment and Gender Equality issues (2009), Fondazione Giacomo Brodolini, Grenoble Ecole de Management.
- 55 K. Rake (2009), "Are women bearing the burden of the recession?'London: Fawcett Society 2009
- ⁵⁶K Hopkins and R Sunderland (2009) ,Pregnant staff face new wave of bullying in recession', the Guardian, 9 August
- ⁵⁷"Obetí obťažovania neubudlo, prioritu má práca', *Topky*, 20 June 2009
- saLinda Sokacová and Alexandra Jachanová Doleželová (2009), 'Výzva vládě: nekrat'te peněžitou pomoc v mateřství', Feminismus, 15 September
- 59°Janotův úsporný balíček prošel, schodek by měl být 162,8 miliardy' *Novinky*, 25. September 2009
- 60Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Hungary
- ⁶¹K Hopkins and R Sunderland (2009), op cit

621hid

63European Commission (2009), Commission staff working document: Report from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, 'Equality between women and men', Brussels: European Commission

http://eur-lex.europa.eu/

⁶⁴The Social Protection Committee (2009), 'Growth, Jobs and Social Progress in the EU: a contribution to the evaluation of the social dimension of the Lisbon Strategy', Brussels: European Commission

65International Trade Union Confederation (2009), 'Gender (in)equality in the labour market: an overview of global trends and developments', Brussels: ITUC

66 European Women's Lobby (2009), 'Women, the Financial and Economic Crisis: the Urgency of a Gender Perspective', Brussels: European Women's Lobby

67Stiegler, B.: Zur Care-Arbeit in Deutschland. In: Antworten aus der feministischen Ökonomie auf die globale Wirtschaftsund Finanzkrise, Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung 2009

⁶⁸European Anti-Poverty Network (2009), 'Social Cohesion at Stake', Dublin: European Anti-Poverty Network

69Gustavo Capdevila interviews Barbara Palmer (2009) Q&A: 'Anti-Crisis Stimulus Packages Must Take Women into Account', IPS, 8 May

⁷⁰Jennifer Rubin, Michael S. Rendall, Lila Rabinovich, Flavia Tsang, Constantijn van Oranje-Nassau, Barbara Janta (2008), 'Migrant women in the European labour force: Current situation and future prospects', Brussels: RAND Europe

71 Ibid.

⁷²OSCE's Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (ODIHR), Council of Europe's European Commission against Racism and Intolerance (ECRI) and the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights (FRA) (2009) 'Joint statement on the occasion of the International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination' 21 March 2009, http://fra.europa.eu/fraWebsite/attachments/evt-21March-jointstatement-09_en.pdf (last accessed 24 March 2010)

73 European Roma's Rights Centre (2009), 'Hard Times for Roma: Economics, Politics and Violence', Brussels: ERRC

⁷⁴K. Dimitrova, 'The Economic Crisis Closes in on Bulgarian Roma', Brussels: ERRC

75US State Department (2009) 'Trafficking in Persons (TIP) report', Washington D.C: US State Department

⁷⁶The National Women's Council of Ireland (2009), 'The Impact on Women', Response to the Report of the Special Group on Public Service Numbers and Expenditure Programmes, Dublin: NWCI

⁷⁷Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria.

⁷⁸Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Estonia.

⁷⁹Megan Schmidt (2009), 'Falling economy, rising domestic violence', Holland Sentinel, 20 September

80 Women's Aid (2009), 'Recession traps women in abusive relationships' Women's Aid, 26 September 2009. http://www.womensaid.ie/

81Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Romania. Interview with a female medical doctor for retirement due to health problems, a women activist living in a village

82Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Romania. Interview from Romania with a retired female teacher from rural area, leader of an NGO for traditional art products

83B. Bodnárová, J. Filadelfiová, and –B. Holubová (2008), 'Representative Research on Prevalence and Experience of Women with Violence against Women (VAW) in Slovakia', Bratislava: Inštitút pre výskum práce a rodiny

84B. Holubová, Centre for research on labour and family, Slovakia: Answers to questionnaire for EWL members.

85B. Bodnárová et al. (2008), op. cit.

86Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Slovakia.

87'Women refused at refuges as domestic abuse rate rises 8%', Herald Scotland, 24 Nov 2009

88US State Department (2009) op. cit.

89ibid.

⁹⁰European Parliament (2004), 'Women and poverty in the EU, European Parliament resolution on women and poverty in the European Union' 2004/2217(INI), Strasburg: European Parliament

91US State Department (2009) op. cit.

92Von Hannes Heine (2009), 'Die Krise erreicht die Bordelle', Zeit Online, 25 June

93David Torcasso (2009), 'Kris treibt Frauen in das Sex-Gewerbe, 20 Minuten Online, 07 April

94US State Department (2009) op. cit

⁹⁵Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Slovakia. Interview with a female Roma social worker and women rights activist

96 English Collective of Prostitutes (2009), Prostitution Clauses Policing And Crime Bill 2009 – ECP', Women in London, 9 November 2009.

97'Recession 'is forcing more women into prostitution' Leicester *Mercury*, 20 July 2009

98 Paul O'Hare (2009), 'Exclusive: Recession blamed for rise in attacks on prostitutes', Daily Record, July 16.

99 European Restructuring Monitor (2009), 'Restructuring in Recession', Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions

100 Updated joint assessment by the Social Protection Committee and the European Commission of the social impact of the economic crisis and of policy responses', Brussels: European Commission 29 May 2009

¹⁰¹Social Protection Committee (2009), 'Growth, Jobs and Social Progress in the EU: a contribution to the evaluation of the social dimension of the Lisbon Strategy', Brussels: Furopean Commission

102 Kateřina Jonášová (2009), 'Krize dopadne na ženy hůře než na muže - reagovat musí politícká reprezentace!', Gita, 16 April

103 Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Czech republic

 $^{104}\text{Questionnaire}$ for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Estonia

105 National Women's Council of Ireland (2009), 'All our Children. Briefing Paper on Child Benefit', Dublin: National Women's Council of Ireland

¹⁰⁶UNFPA (2009), 'ICPD issues and the Financial Crisis', www.unfpa.org/wpd/2009/en

¹⁰⁷Eurydice/Eurostat, Key data on education in Europe, Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency, 2009

108 European Commission (2009), 'Staff Working Document, Progress towards the Lisbon objectives in education and training', Brussels: European Commission

109 Council of the European Union (2009), 'Updated joint assessment by the Social Protection Committee and the European Commission of the social impact of the economic crisis and of policy responses – Full Report', Brussels: Council of the European Union.

110 Expert Group on Gender and Employment (2009), 'The provision of childcare services: A comparative review of 30 European countries', Brussels: European Commission

111 J. Bennett (2009), 'Improving the well-being of young children in Europe: the role of early years services, Discussion Paper', Brussels: Eurochild

112 European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (2009), 'Foundation Findings, Childcare Services in Europe'

113 Eurochild (2009), 'The Impact of economic and financial crisis on children & young people' Brussels: Eurochild

¹¹⁴Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria

 $^{115}\mbox{Questionnaire}$ for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria

¹¹⁶Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Czech republic

117Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Estonia 118Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Ireland

19Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Pulgaria

¹¹⁹Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Bulgaria.
¹²⁰Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Hungary.

121 Women's Aid: Press release Recession traps women in abusive relationships. Dublin, September 2009. http://www.womensaid.ie/pages/what/media/docs/2009/pr recession.pdf

122Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Romania. Interview with a female actress and activist against violence against women

- 122 Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Romania. Interview with a female medical doctor for retirement due to health problems, a women activist living in a village
- 124Možnost' vol'by (2008), 'Shadow report to CEDAW;, http://moznostvolby.wordpress.com/english/shadowreport_cedaw_slovakia2008_eng_final1/
- ¹²⁵Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Slovakia
- 126K. Beavis, K. Dhami, C. Gage, and T.

Pouwhare (2009), 'Not just bread, but roses too', London: Women's Resource Centre

- 127S. Walby (2009), 'Auditing the gender implications of recovery policies for the financial and economic crisis', Brussels: European Platform of Women Scientists and European Commission
- 128 European Commission, Communication for the Spring European Council, 'Driving European Recovery', Volumes 1 and 2, 114 final, Brussels 4.3.2009
- 129 European Anti-Poverty Network, Social Cohesion at Stake: The Social Impact of the Crisis and of the Recovery Package, December 2009
- ¹³⁰Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Czech republic
- ¹³¹Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Estonia
- 132Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Hungary
- 133 The National Women's Council of Ireland (2009), 'The Impact on Women', Response to the Report of the Special Group on Public Service Numbers and Expenditure Programmes, Dublin: NWCI
- ¹³⁴Questionnaire for EWL members: Impact of the recession on poor women in Europe. Answers from Slovakia
- ¹³⁵European Commission, Employment in Europe 2009
- ¹³⁶The EU Social Inclusion Process consists of five main elements: a set of common EU objectives for combating poverty and social exclusion; two yearly National Action Plans on poverty and social exclusion; an agreed set of common indicators to enhance the analysis of poverty and social exclusion and to measure progress; a process of ongoing monitoring and reporting on progress which has resulted in regular reports on social inclusion in the EU; and a Community Action Programme (PROGRESS) to underpin and reinforce the process and encourage mutual learning and dialogue between member states.
- 137 European Restructuring Monitor (2009), 'Restructuring in Recession', Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions
- 138EU legal obligations to gender equality in the Treaty of Lisbon: Article 2 (value of the EU article 2.3 also refers to combating poverty), Article 3§3 (objective of the EU) Article 8 (gender mainstreaming as horizontal principle) 157 (gender equality in the labour-market) and article 23 of the Charter of Fundamental Rights now article 6§1of the TFEU
- ¹³⁹Established by the Heads of State and Government at the European Council in Lisbon in March 2000
- 140 European Anti-Poverty Network, Social Cohesion at Stake: The Social Impact of the Crisis and of the Recovery Package, December 2009
- 141S. Reiner (2009), "Wem nutzen die Konjunkturpakete?", in Antworten aus der feministischen Ökonomie auf die globale Wirtschaftsund Finanzkrise, Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung
- 142Österreichische Gesellschaft für Soziologie (2009), 'European women scientists analyse financial crisis and suggest remedies', 5 March 2009http://www.oegs.ac.at/cms/schwarzes brett/

© Oxfam International and European Women's Lobby, March 2010

Online ISBN: 978-1-84814-100-1

All rights reserved. This publication is copyright, but may be reproduced by any method without fee for advocacy, campaigning, and teaching purposes, but not for resale. The copyright holder requests that all such uses be registered with them for impact assessment purposes. For copying in any other circumstances, for re-use in other publications, or for translation or adaptation, prior written permission must be obtained from the publisher and a fee may be payable. For any re-use as set out above, email publish@oxfam.org.uk to register use or seek permission.

This paper is available to download from: www.oxfam.org.uk/publications and www.womenlobby.org.uk/publications and www.wow.womenlobby.uk/publications and www.wow.wow.wow.wo

Oxfam GB is registered as a charity in England and Wales (no. 202918) and Scotland (SCO 039042). Oxfam GB is a member of Oxfam International.







